Characterization of mice with humanized T cell recognition system and isolation of optimal affinity TCR against tumor antigen NY-ESO-1

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

doctor rerum naturalium

(Dr. rer. nat.)

im Fachbereich Biologie, Chemie, Pharmazie der

Freien Universität Berlin

Vorgelegt von

Xiaojing Chen, M. Sc. Biochemie, Molekularbiologie

Berlin, 2017

1st Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Thomas Blankenstein

2nd Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Gerald Willimsky

Date of defence: 2018.02.16

Table of Contents

Summary1
Zusammenfassung2
Introduction
1.1 αβ T cells
1.1.1 αβ T cell receptor3
1.1.2 T cell development4
1.1.3 CD4 and CD8 T cells5
1.2 TCR-MHC co-evolution7
1.2.1 Evidence support /against existence of TCR-MHC inherent affinities8
1.3 Adoptive T cell therapy for cancer8
1.3.1 Transfer of unmodified T cells10
1.3.2 Transfer of gene modified T cells11
1.3.2.1 Transfer of TCR engineered T cells11
1.3.2.2 Transfer of CAR engineered T cells14
1.3.2.3 Tumor antigens14
1.4 Transgenic mice with humanized T cell recognition systems
1.4.1 Human TCR repertoire selected by human/mouse MHC II in studying TCR-MHC coevolution
1.4.2 ABabDII mice for generation of optimal affinity human TCRs against cancer/testis
antigen NY-ESO-119
2.1 Part 1: Characterization of transgenic mice with humanized T cell recognition systems20
2.1.1 Transgenic mice with a diverse human T cell antigen receptor repertoire20
2.1.2 Human TCR-MHC coevolution after divergence from mice includes increased
nontemplate-encoded CDR3 diversity55
2.2 Part II: Identification of optimal affinity TCRs against NY-ESO-1 ₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ in ABabDII mice79

2.2.1 High-throughput identification of antigen-specific TCRs by TCR gene capture
2.2.2 Identification of human T-cell receptors with optimal affinity to cancer
antigens using antigen-negative humanized mice110
Discussion
3.1 Part 1: Characterization of transgenic mice with humanized T cell recognition system137
3.1.1 Diverse and functional human TCR repertoire selected by a single HLA-A2 molecule in AB <i>ab</i> DII mice
3.1.2 Evidence supporting human TCR-MHC II coevolution in ABabDR4 mice138
3.2 Part 2: Isolation of optimal affinity TCRs for cancer/testis antigen NY-ESO-1 ₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ in
ABabDII mice
ABabDII mice responded robustly to NY-ESO-1 ₁₅₇₋₁₆₅
ABabDII mice generated high-affinity TCRs against NY-ESO-1157-165
3.3 Final remarks
Abbreviation
References147
Contribution to the publications
Publications and patent
Curiculum Vitae
Statement
Copyright license number

Summary

The efficacy of T cell therapies for cancer is determined in part by the T cell receptors (TCRs) affinities to their target antigens. Since most of the human cancer antigens are self-antigens, humans are tolerant and T cells with high affinity TCRs are difficult to identify in humans. Utilizing human antigen-negative human MHC transgenic mice is a solution, but concerns are raised due to the potential interspecies incompatibility between murine TCRs and human major histocompatibility complexes (MHCs). To solve the problem, we generated transgenic mice with complete human TCR α and β gene loci and a single human MHC class I (MHC I) or MHC class II (MHC II) molecule. The mice generated diverse human TCR repertoires and the peripheral T cells were functional upon antigen stimulations. To provide evidence for the existence of TCR-MHC coevolution, we compared the TCR repertoire of CD4 T cells selected by a single mouse or human MHC II in the transgenic mice. Our data showed that human MHC II yielded higher thymic output and a more diverse TCR repertoire. We hypothesized that the complementarity determining region 3 (CDR3) length adjusted for different inherent V segment affinity to MHC II to ensure thymic selection of most V genes. We also showed that humans evolved for higher non-template encoded CDR3 diversity compared to mice. Our findings demonstrate that TCRs and MHCs further co-evolved after the divergence between humans and rodents ~70 million years ago and justify the rational of generating TCR-MHC species-compatible transgenic mice.

With the established transgenic mice with human MHC I, we investigated CD8 T cell immune response against a cancer-testis antigen, NY-ESO-1. NY-ESO-1 immunization evoked robust CD8 T cell response in the mice, one of the specific TCRs showed higher affinity compared to the human-derived TCR-1G4. The mouse-derived TCR transduced human T cells also showed higher functionality than TCR-1G4 transduced T cells. Our data suggest central tolerance against NY-ESO-1 in humans and proved that the transgenic mice with the complete humanized T cell antigen recognition system are a valid tool to isolate optimal affinity TCRs against human antigens.

Zusammenfassung

Die Effektivität tumorspezifischer T-Zell-Therapien wird maßgeblich durch die Affinität der verwendeten T-Zell-Rezeptoren (TCRs) zu ihren jeweiligen Zielantigenen bestimmt. Da es sich bei den meisten humanen Tumorantigenen um Selbstantigene handelt, ist das humane Immunsystem diesen gegenüber tolerant und T-Zellen mit hochaffinen TCRs sind in Menschen nur schwierig nachzuweisen. Die Verwendung transgener Mäuse mit humanem MHC, die die entsprechenden humanen Antigene nicht besitzen, stellt eine mögliche Lösung dar, jedoch bestehen hier potentiell Inkompatibilitäten zwischen den murinen T-Zell-Rezeptoren und humanen Haupthistokompatibilitätskomplex (MHC) Antigenen. Zur Lösung dieses Problems generierten wir transgene Mäuse mit den vollständigen humanen TCR α und β Loci sowie je einem einzelnen humanen MHC Klasse I oder Klasse II Gen. Diese Mäuse generierten ein polyklonales TCR Repertoire mit T-Zellen, die funktional auf Antigenstimulation reagierten. Die humanen TCR Transgene waren in der Lage, wieder ein auf humanes MHC I restringiertes CD8 T Zell Kompartiment herzustellen. Zum Nachweis der Existenz einer TCR-MHC-Koevolution verglichen wir TCR Repertoires von CD4 T Zellen, die in diesen transgenen Mäusen durch ein einziges murines oder humanes MHC II selektioniert wurden. Humanes MHC II führte sowohl zu einer höheren (thymischen) T-Zell-Produktion, als auch zu einem stärker diversifizierten TCR Repertoire. Wir stellten die Hypothese auf, dass Veränderungen der Länge der CDR3-Regionen Unterschiede in der intrinsischen Affinität verschiedener V-Segmente für MHC II kompensieren, um die Positivselektion der meisten V Gene im Thymus sicherzustellen. Es ließ sich außerdem zeigen, dass das humane Immunsystem, verglichen mit Mäusen, evolutionär eine höhere, nicht genomisch kodierte, CDR3-Diversität entwickelte. Zusammenfassend zeigt sich, dass nach der phylogenetischen Trennung von Menschen und Nagetieren vor etwa 70 Millionen Jahren eine weitere Koevolution zwischen TCRs und MHCs stattfand, wodurch sich eine Rationale für die Generierung von spezieskompatiblen TCR und MHC transgenen Mäusen ergibt.

Nach Etablierung der human MHC I transgenen Mäuse nutzten wird diese, um die Immunantwort gegen ein "Cancer/Testis"-Antigen, NY-ESO-1, zu untersuchen. Immunisierung mit NY-ESO-1 führte zu einer stabilen CD8 T Zell Antwort in den Mäusen, wobei einer der spezifischen TCRs eine höhere Antigenaffinität zeigte als der humane NY-ESO-1 spezifische TCR 1G4. Humane T-Zellen, die mit dem in der transgenen Maus generierten TCR transduziert wurden, zeigten eine bessere funktionelle Antwort als solche, die mit TCR 1G4 transduziert wurden. Dies gibt einen starken Hinweis für die Existenz zentraler Toleranz gegen NY-ESO-1 im Menschen und zeigt gleichzeitig die Nützlichkeit von transgenen Mäusen mit einem vollständig humanen T-Zell-Antigenerkennungssystem als Werkzeug für die Generierung von TCRS mit optimaler Affinität gegen humane Antigene.

Introduction

1.1 $\alpha\beta$ T cells

 $\alpha\beta$ T cells constitute around 90-95% of all T cells in mice and humans and are part of the adaptive immune system. They express T cell receptors (TCRs) which are heterodimers composed of one α and one β chain. According to their co-receptors, $\alpha\beta$ T cells can be further divided into CD4 and CD8 T cells.

 $\alpha\beta$ T cells exert functions such as harmonizing immune responses to infections, or direct destruction of infected cells.

1.1.1 $\alpha\beta$ T cell receptor

 $\alpha\beta$ T cells recognize their targets by binding of the TCRs to antigens in the form of short peptides presented by major histocompatibility complexes (MHCs) on the surface of antigen presenting cells. Each T cell clone expresses a unique TCR $\alpha\beta$.

To accommodate the vast amount of antigens presented by different MHC molecules, T cells must generate a diverse $\alpha\beta$ TCR repertoire. T cells achieve the task by recombination of each one of multiple germline encoded Variable (V), (Diversity (D)), Joining (J) gene segments by recombination activating gene encoded proteins (RAGs); non-template addition/deletion of nucleotides in the V(D)J junctional region using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) and exonuclease; together with random α and β chain pairing (Figure 1) (Davis and Bjorkman, 1988; Jung and Alt, 2004). Upon encountering antigens, TCRs also undergo conformational adjustments, a so-called 'induced-fit' binding to ensure specific recognition of respective peptide-MHCs (pMHCs) (Krogsgaard and Davis, 2005).

Theoretically, $\alpha\beta$ T cells can generate more than 10¹⁵ different TCRs (Davis and Bjorkman, 1988). Yet due to thymic selection, size of the T cell compartment, etc., the actual TCR diversity in an individual is remarkably reduced. Mice are estimated to have 2x10⁶ distinct $\alpha\beta$ chains in the periphery and for humans it is estimated to be 2.5x10⁷ (lower bound) (Figure 1) (Casrouge et al., 2000; Arstila et al., 1999). Hence, the size of each T cell clone would be ~ 20 – 50 cells in mice and ~1,000 – 4,000 in humans. It is suggested that the T cell precursor frequency of a particular specificity is approximately 1 – 100 cells/million CD4 or CD8 T cells (Jenkins and Moon, 2013; Su et al., 2013). This proportion does not change with the size of an individual (Vrisekoop N et al., 2014).



Figure 1: Schematic illustration of $\alpha\beta$ TCRs generation. Each one of the multiple TCR α/β V, (D) and J gene segments randomly recombined together by recombination activating gene 1 and 2 (RAG1/2) to form a TCR α/β chain. The TCR diversity is further increased by deletion or addition of nucleotides at the V(D)J junction by nuclease and terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT). Finally, one TCR α and one TCR β chain come together and generate a TCR heterodimer. The figure is taken from (Nikolich-Zugich et al., 2004).

A typical $\alpha\beta$ TCR contacts the pMHC with their complementarity-determining region 1, 2 and 3 (CDR1, 2 and 3) (Nikolich-Zugich et al., 2004). The CDR1 and 2 are located on V α and β genes and predominantly interact with the MHC molecules. CDR3 represents the most diverse region of a TCR chain. It is located in the V(D)J junction and has an extensive role in engaging the peptides (Davis and Bjorkman, 1988). Most of the solved TCR-pMHC tertiary structures indicate that the TCR binds the pMHC in a conserved diagonal docking mode: the TCR α chain lies mainly over the α 2 helix (MHC I) or β helix (MHC II) and the N-terminal end of the peptide, and the TCR β over the α 1 helix (MHC I) or α helix (MHC II) and the carboxyl-terminal end of the peptide (Garcia et al., 2009; Rossjohn et al., 2015).

1.1.2 T cell development

Once generated in the bone marrow, the lymphoid progenitors which emigrate through blood stream into the thymus become T cell precursors (Schwarz and Bhandoola, 2006). The thymus is a specialized lymphoid organ where T cells differentiate and mature.

Early committed T cells lack the expression of TCRs and CD4/CD8 co-receptors and thus are termed double negative (DN) thymocytes. During this stage, the cells start to rearrange their TCR β chains. Functional TCR β chains pair with an invariant pre- α chain to form pre-TCRs. Cells with successfully paired pre-TCR chains receive the signals to proliferate (β selection) and silence the

re-arrangement of the other TCR β allele (allelic exclusion) (Mostoslavsky et al., 2004). Double positive (DP) lymphocytes replace the pre- α chain with a newly rearranged TCR α chain. At this stage, the lymphocytes are CD4⁺, CD8⁺ and TCR⁺ (Germain, 2002). Subsequently, T cells undergo thymic selection before they can enter the peripheral T cell pool (Figure 2).

Thymic selection

TCR rearrangement is a stochastic event, together with the random pairing of TCR α and β chains it generates a vast spectrum of different TCRs. But it is known that there are only ~10⁸ T cells in a mouse periphery and ~10¹¹ T cells in humans. Most of the T cell selection events happen in the thymus, where only those T cells (3 – 5% of DP cells) with TCR having low affinities to self-peptide-MHCs can pass the selection criteria and survive (Starr et al., 2003; Surh and Sprent, 1994). These processes strongly limit the T cell diversity.

Positive selection. Despite the large number of DP T cell candidates, only ~15% of them receive a survival signal and mature into CD4 or CD8 single positive (SP) T cells (Merkenschlager et al., 1997; Mcdonald et al., 2015). This process is called positive selection. Positive selection happen mainly in the thymic cortex, with self-antigen presenting cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) as the antigen-presenting cells (Figure 2) (Starr et al., 2003). DP cells with TCRs that bind to self-pMHC I complex become CD8 T cells and the ones binding to self-pMHC II complex become CD4 T cells.

A favored explanation of positive selection is to impose self MHC restriction to the T cells (Bevan, 1977; Zinkernagel et al., 1978; Davis and Bjorkman, 1988). Yet experiments suggest that there are other possible roles for positive selection. For instance, the survival of only those T cells with subthreshold self-pMHC ensures T cell sensitivity to foreign antigens and the naïve T cell maintenance in the periphery (Purbhoo et al., 2013; Surh and Sprent, 2008; Mandl et al., 2013).

Negative selection. A crucial step in thymic selection is to eliminate T cells which react to self-pMHC ligands, since they can potentially cause autoimmune diseases. Negative selection takes place mainly in the medulla of the thymus, where lineage-determined (CD4 or CD8) SP T cells get in contact with hematopoietic cells, particularly dendritic cells. Too strong signaling due to high affinities to self-pMHC ligands leads to apoptosis (Starr et al., 2003). Around 50% of the SP T cells are negatively selected (Merkenschlager et al., 1997; Mcdonald et al., 2015).

1.1.3 CD4 and CD8 T cells

CD4 and CD8 T cells are distinguished by their CD4/CD8 co-receptor expression.



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Figure 2: T cell development in the thymus. T cell precursors have to functionally rearrange their TCR β and α chains in the DN and DP stages, respectively, to receive a survival signal. The cells with unsuccessful rearrangement events die by neglect. Only T cells with TCRs that have weak affinities to self-peptide presenting MHC-s will receive a signal to survive, a process called positive selection. Cells that have too high affinity to self-peptide-MHC-s will undergo apoptosis, a process called negative selection. Positive selection happens mainly in the cTEC of the thymus where negative selection happens in the mTEC. Figure taken from (Germain, 2002).

CD4 T cells play a crucial role in orchestrating immune responses. They are often referred to as T helper cells, since they exert their function mainly by indirectly acting on other immune cells. They exert such functions mostly by secretion of chemokines and cytokines. CD4 T cells recognize ligands which are usually 13-17 amino acids long presented by on MHC II molecules.

CD4 T cells can be subdivided into at least 4 groups: Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg cells. The first three are also known as conventional CD4 T cells (Tcon): Th1 cells mediate immune responses against intracellular pathogens; whereas Th2 cells respond mostly to extracellular parasites and Th17 cells to extracellular bacteria and fungi (Mosmann and Coffman, 1989; Paul and Seder, 1994; Weaver et al., 2006). The fates of Tcon depend on the signal patterns they receive during their initial activation (Zhu and Paul, 2009; Nishizuka and Sakakura, 1969). Treg cells express FoxP3, they are important in maintaining self-tolerance and regulate immune responses (Sakaguchi, 2004). The fate of natural Treg cells are decided during thymic selection, that those CD4 T

thymocytes with high affinities to self-peptide-MHC develop into Treg cells (Hsieh et al., 2012). Tcon and Treg cells express distinct but both diverse TCR repertoires (Fujishima et al., 2005; Kasow et al., 2004).

CD8 T cells, also known as cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), are the major immune cell type that mediates direct killing of infected cells or cancer cells. They recognize antigens (8-11mers) presented by MHC I molecules. MHC I molecules are expressed by all nucleated cells in the body. Upon activation, CD8 T cells turn into effector T cells and secret perforin, granzymes and cytokines within the immunological synapses form between the T cell and its target cell, which lead to apoptosis of the target cells. Activated CD8 T cells also respond to Interleukin-2 (IL-2) secreted by i.e. CD4 T cells and undergo clonal expansion. Depending on the strength of the TCR signaling and the cytokine environment, naïve CD8 T cells can further develop into central memory T cells (T_{CM}) and effector memory T cells (T_{EM}) (Restifo et al., 2012; Klebanoff et al., 2006).

Both CD4/CD8 T cell activation is initiated by the T cell binding to its cognate pMHC with its TCRs. It is shown that CD8 (Luescher et al., 1995; Wooldridge et al., 2005), but not CD4 co-receptor (Hamad et al., 1998; Huppa et al., 2010; Crawford et al., 1998), help to stabilize the interaction between TCRs and the pMHCs. But both co-receptors augment the sensitivities of the respective T cells (Huppa et al., 2010; Holler and Kranz, 2003), mainly by delivery of co-receptor bound Lck to the relevant TCR-CD3 complex (Stepanek et al., 2014; Artyomov et al., 2010).

1.2 TCR-MHC co-evolution

Ever since T cells and their targets were identified, a question was raised on how T cells with such TCR diversity of up to billions react almost exclusively in a MHC-restricted fashion. Also, T cells can react to almost any MHC molecule, considering the large polymorphism of MHC genes (i.e. in humans there are around 15,000 variants) (Robinson et al., 2003).

In 1970s, Niels Jerne proposed that T cells had evolved to interact with MHC alleles, thymic selection eliminated T cells that were reactive to self-MHC-s but retained the function to interact with foreign MHCs, which is now known as TCR-MHC co-evolution hypothesis (Jerne, 1971). The theory was disfavored after the discovery of positive selection, since positive selection sustains a peripheral T cell pool that can interact with self-MHCs and it seems like there is no need for inherent affinity between TCRs and MHCs (Zinkernagel et al., 1978; Fink and Bevan, 1978). But several lines of evidences still point to the existence of TCR-MHC co-evolution. i.e. the relatively high proportion of MHC-reactive T cells in the pre-selection pool (approximately 5-20%); or the fact that ~10% of the peripheral T cells are MHC alloreactive all indicate the TCR germline bias for MHCs (Blackman et al., 1986; Blattman, 2002; Suchin et al., 2001; Zerrahn et al., 1997).

Namely, the germline-encoded complementarity determining region (CDR) 1 and CDR2 of the V α and V β segments are evolutionarily conserved to react with MHC molecules, which was termed TCR germline bias (Garcia et al., 2009; Huseby et al., 2005; Marrack et al., 2008).

However, not all V gene segments share conserved residues in CDR1 and CDR2. Therefore, it was suggested that each V segment engages to its cognate MHC through a menu of structurally coded recognition motifs that have evolutionarily arisen (Feng et al., 2007; Garcia et al., 2009; Marrack et al., 2008), a comprehensive hypothesis, but is difficult to experimentally address.

1.2.1 Evidence support /against existence of TCR-MHC inherent affinity

Compelling evidence for this hypothesis resulted from structural and mutational analysis, showing that single amino acid substitutions in a mouse V β CDR2, e.g. Tyr48, Tyr50 and Glu54, decreased positive selection in a TCR transgenic mouse model (Dai et al., 2008; Scott-Browne et al., 2009). Furthermore, some V β genes of jawed vertebrates (frog, shark, trout, lizard), which diverged from mammals ~400 million years ago, share sequences in the CDR2 region of mouse V β 8.2, while otherwise exhibiting little homology. T cells with chimeric TCRs containing such V β genes, e.g. derived from frogs, were positively selected in mice (Scott-Browne et al., 2011). Further evidence is mounting from the growing database of TCR-pMHC ternary crystallographic structures (Rossjohn et al., 2015). With few exceptions (Beringer et al., 2015; Rossjohn et al., 2015), many of the solved TCR-pMHC structures to date adapt a diagonal docking topology atop the pMHC complex (Adams et al., 2016; Rossjohn et al., 2015). Evidence also comes from study of TCR-MHC binding mechanism (Wu et al., 2002) or the observation of the preferential MHC I or MHC II by certain murine TCR V α genes (Sim et al., 1996).

On the other hand, several studies showed results that might not be in favor of the co-evolution theory. For instance, one of the studies described the development of 'antibody-like' T cells in co-receptor and MHC-deficient mice (Van Laethem et al., 2007). The specific target of one of these T cells is the native form of CD155 (Van Laethem et al., 2013). Furthermore, some structural analyses of TCR-pMHC complexes show the lack of a clear motif for TCR-MHC binding (Beringer et al., 2015; Gras et al., 2010; Sethi et al., 2011; Tikhonova et al., 2012; Tynan et al., 2005). Hence, it is not generally accepted that TCR and MHC coevolved. This may not be surprising given the complex and flexible interactions that TCR and MHC can undergo.

1.3 Adoptive T cell therapy of cancer

T cells have revealed their role in tumor rejection in as early as 1953. In his experiments, Mitchison showed that T cells, rather than antibodies, accounted for the accelerated tumor rejection in the

mouse models (Mitchison, 1953). Thereafter, several animal and human experiments showed that T cells could control tumor growth (Southam et al., 1966; Klein et al., 1960; Leclerc et al., 1972). Yet, it remained unclear until 1990s, with the discovery of tumor-associated/specific antigens (TAAs/TSAs) that T cells can distinguish cancerous cells from normal cells (Coulie et al., 1995; Monach et al., 1995; Wölfel et al., 1995; van der Bruggen et al., 1991).

Adaptive immunity possesses several properties which makes it potent for cancer treatment (Perica et al., 2015): 1) T cell responses are specific for their targets, which makes them possible to distinguish heathy and pathological tissues (low toxicity); 2) T cells are effective in responding to their target. Upon activation, T cells can undergo up to 1,000 fold clonal expansion; 3) T cells have the potential to destruct established solid tumor through destruction of cancer stroma (bystander killing) (Spiotto et al., 2004; Spiotto and Schreiber, 2005; Zhang et al., 2008a; Gerbitz et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2008b); 4) Therapeutic effect with T cell therapy could last for years (T cell memory).

There are three main strategies in manipulating antitumor capacities of T cells in use for cancer therapy: active immunization by therapeutic cancer vaccines (Finn, 2008), adoptive transfer of T cells into tumor-bearing hosts (June, 2007b), and more recently administration of checkpoint inhibitors (Lesokhin et al., 2015). While cancer vaccination often resulted in unsatisfactory outcomes in the clinic likely due to central/peripheral tolerance (Rosenberg et al., 2004), the latter two approaches show promise in eradicating advanced cancers.

Checkpoint Inhibitors. The rationale of checkpoint blockade in cancer treatment is to overcome immunosuppressive pathways in immune cells and enhance their antitumor responses and duration (Lesokhin et al., 2015). For example, administration of antibodies, i.e. ipilimumab, against cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (Anti-CTLA-4 treatment) in treatment of melanoma showed prolonged survival in patients (Hodi et al., 2010; Robert et al., 2011); Therapy with nivolumab, an antibody blocking the programmed death 1 receptor (PD-1), yielded objective and durable responses in patients with melanoma, renal-cell cancer and non-small-cell lung cancer (Topalian et al., 2004). Studies revealed that there is a subset of cancers that are susceptible to checkpoint inhibitor therapy. Although markers like PD-1 ligand (PD-L1), RNA expression signatures, mutational burden have been evaluated, it is still unclear what the molecular determinants for this type of cancers (Le et al., 2017; Snyder et al., 2014; Boussiotis, 2015). It should be noted that treatments with CTLA-4 and PD-1 antagonists are quite often associated with severe autoimmunity, especially upon combined checkpoint blockade (McDermott et al., 2015; Topalian et al., 2014; Gettinger et al., 2015; Wolchok et al., 2013).

Adoptive T cell therapy. Adoptive T cell therapy (ATT) is a thriving field in combat against cancer. In ATTs, the specificities of the T cells are manipulated *ex vivo* and infused into cancer patients to break immune tolerance. Tumor regression was seen in trials employing chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) against CD19 for acute or chronic leukemia; or TCRs against NY-ESO-1 for melanoma and synovial cell sarcoma (Hinrichs and Rosenberg, 2014). Compared to other T cell therapies, ATT creates, rather than unleashes, an anti-tumor immune response (Perica et al., 2015).

1.3.1 Transfer of unmodified T cells

The T cells used for transfer into cancer patients come mainly from two sources: allogenic donor T cells or autologous T cells that are selected for their antitumor specificities *in vitro*.

Allogenic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) in treating hematological malignancies makes use of the graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect mediated by immunocompetent donor leukocytes (Kolb, 2011; Porter and Antin, 1999). The evidence that allogenic T cells mediate GVL lies in several mouse experiments and clinical observations (Barnes and Loutit, 1957; Truitt and Atasoylu, 1991; OKunewick et al., 1994; Weiss et al., 1990; Higano et al., 1990; Horowitz et al., 1990). Donor leukocyte infusion (DLI) for treatment of relapsed chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) after HSCT usually achieve 70 - 79% complete remission (Kolb et al., 1995; Collins et al., 1997). Another example of the effective use of DLI is for treatment of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) related B cell post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD) after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation, with a remission rate of up to 90% (Papadopoulos et al., 1994). The antigens that the donor T cells target are most likely minor histocompatibility antigens that differ between the host and the donor (Kloosterman et al., 1994, 1995; Horowitz et al., 1990), viral antigens or, perhaps, tumor specific antigens. The success of applying allogenic immunity to treat cancer is limited, mainly due to the difficulties of finding MHC-matched donors and complications such as the graft-versus-host disease (GvHD), which is very often coupled with the GVL effect induced by donor T cells or marrow aplasia (Porter et al., 2000). Besides, allogenic immunotherapies are less effective in treating cancers except leukemia.

On the other hand, the efficacy of autologous T cells transfer is hindered by immune tolerance. Established methods to break immune tolerance and increase the efficacy of this approach include *ex vivo* stimulation and expansion of tumor-specific T cell clones targeting tumor-antigens originated from e.g. peripheral blood or infiltrated T lymphocytes (TILs) of fresh tumor biopsies, and/or pre-conditioning of the patients with chemotherapy or total-body irradiation induced lymphodepletion (June, 2007b; Hinrichs and Rosenberg, 2014; Rosenberg and Restifo, 2015).

The power of this therapeutic approach is mostly demonstrated in treatment of metastatic melanoma, where around 50% of the treated patients showed objective clinical responses (Yee et al., 2000, 2002; Mackensen et al., 2006; Rosenberg et al., 2011; Radvanyi et al., 2012; Itzhaki et al., 2011; Ellebaek et al., 2012; Hunder et al., 2008). However, a case report of TILs therapy targeting mutant KRAS G12D restricted on HLA-C*08:02 was described recently from a patient with metastatic colorectal cancer. Regression was observed after the TIL infusion, although 9 month later one of the lesions progressed due to the loss of HLA-C*0802 expression, suggesting a possible therapeutic role of TIL therapy in treating solid tumors other than melanoma (Tran et al., 2016).

1.3.2 Transfer of gene modified T cells

Therapies with unmodified autologous T cells are often with unsatisfactory clinical outcomes because of the inadequate functionality of the transferred T cells. One way to overcome immune tolerance, enhance T cell functionality and minimize toxicity is to utilize genetically modified T cells. For example, introduction of a constitutively expressed CD28 gene into exhausted T cells can restore their ability to produce IL-2 upon antigen stimulation (Topp et al., 2003); human telomerase reverse transcriptase (*hTERT*) gene transduced primary human CD8⁺ T cells showed extended replicative life span *in vitro* (Rufer et al., 2012); or human CTLs transduced with GM-CSF-IL-2 receptors formed an autocrine growth loop and could proliferate without exogenous cytokines *in vivo* (Evans et al., 1999). In addition, T cells which were modified to express suicide genes, i.e. herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-TK), showed reduced treatment-induced toxicities, both in mice and patients (Bonini et al., 1997; Kieback et al., 2008). Among all these approaches, particular efforts were made in redirecting the specificities of T cells by transferring tumor-antigen specific receptors. These receptors can be new TCR α/β chains or chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) with defined specificity (June et al., 2015; Hinrichs and Rosenberg, 2014; June, 2007b).

1.3.2.1 Transfer of TCR engineered T cells

The administration of specificity-redirected T cells with a new pair of TCR α and β chains is also called TCR gene therapy. In general, TCR gene therapy includes the identification and cloning of TCR α and β chains from tumor-antigen reactive T cell clones; re-expression of the TCRs in patient T cells; *ex vivo* expansion of TCR gene-engineered T cells and re-infusion of these T cells back into lymphodepleted cancer patients (Figure 3). Most of the current TCR gene therapy trials are performed with MHC-I restricted CD8 T cells, although recently experiments suggested a potent role of gene modified CD4 T cells in ATTs and a clinical trial targeting a MHC-II epitope of MAGE-A3 was recently conducted in cancer patients with various types of solid tumors (Lu et al., 2017;

Katsuhara et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2013; Straetemans et al., 2012; Matsuzaki et al., 2015). The primary limitation of TCR gene therapy is MHC-dependency, since the eligible patients for treatment must share the same MHC-restriction as the therapeutic TCRs.

One aspect that dictates the outcome of the therapy is the selection of the target tumor-antigens (See section "1.2.2.3 Tumor antigens"). Genetic instability, which features the cancerous cells, implies that antigens generated in cancer cells differ from normal cells both in composition and the magnitude of their expression (Pardoll, 2003). Ideal antigen targets for T cell therapies should be expressed in a tumor-restricted manner, and universally expressed in all or at least most of the cancer cells.



Figure 3: Schematic illustration of adoptive immunotherapy with TCR/CAR gene-modified T cells.

Another restriction factor that determines the efficacy and safety of TCR gene therapy is the selection of tumor-specific TCRs. TCRs can be isolated from tumor-reactive T cell clones either from high avidity patient TILs or from immunized human MHC transgenic mice (June et al., 2015; Hinrichs and Rosenberg, 2014). Particularly, human MHC transgenic mice represent an effective source for human-antigen-specific T cells, since mice and humans often have key differences in their protein sequences. Consequently, there is no central tolerance of murine T cells against most of the human tumor antigens. Theoretically, TCRs obtained from such source have a higher risk of *off-target* toxicities, which means that the TCRs might recognize targets expressed in normal tissues that are different from the original epitope. Hence, it requires careful assessment before

applying such TCRs in the clinic (June et al., 2015). The affinities of the TCRs can be further increased by *in vitro* mutagenesis and selection of the high-affinity clones, although the in vitro affinity matured TCRs often face the risk of losing their specificities (Holler et al., 2003; Linette et al., 2013).

Last but not least, TCR gene therapy faces several technical challenges such as:

1) Choosing the optimal T cell subset for transfer (June, 2007a). Differentiation state of the transferred T cells is crucial to the success of T cell therapies (Rosenberg et al., 2011; Gattinoni et al., 2005). Experiments revealed that T cells that were repeatedly stimulated by antigen and IL-2 had a reduced ability for proliferation and survival. Although these T cells retained their function to lyse the target cells and secret IFNy, their antitumor efficacy declined in comparison to naïve T cells or T cells which have been stimulated limited times (Gattinoni et al., 2005, 2006; Yee et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2004; Sussman et al., 2004; Dudley et al., 2002). It is hypothesized that the differentiation state of the T cells is inversely related to their capacity to proliferate and persist (Gattinoni et al., 2006). Hence, it is proposed that naïve T cells > central memory T cells > effector memory T cells in the sense of their in vivo antitumor activities (Hinrichs et al., 2009, 2011; Klebanoff et al., 2004; Berger et al., 2008; Klebanoff et al., 2005; Gattinoni et al., 2011). Notably, a newly defined population of CD8 T cells, which are termed CD8 T memory stem cells (T_{SCM}), elicits special interest for their use in T cell therapies (Zhang et al., 2005). T_{SCM} phenotype has been intensely studied (Gattinoni et al., 2011; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 2011; Gattinoni et al., 2009), and their superior antitumor properties compared to other memory subtypes has been demonstrated in a mouse model (Gattinoni et al., 2009);

2) Identification and optimization of the therapeutic TCRs. Transferring the specificity of tumorantigen reactive CTLs to patient T cells requires the identification of the TCR α/β chains expressed by the CTLs. Advancing technologies such as DNA/RNA deep sequencing (Linnemann et al., 2013; Howie et al., 2015), single cell PCR (Dössinger et al., 2013) etc. enable the recognition of these TCRs. The affinity of the identified TCR $\alpha\beta$ pair can be further increased by bacteriophage display mutation and selection technology (Li et al., 2005; Robbins et al., 2008), although it might reduce the specificities of the TCRs (Varela-rohena et al., 2008).

Tumor-specific TCRs can be cloned into a retroviral or lentiviral vector and transduced into patient T cells (Engels et al., 2003; Frecha et al., 2010). Extensive attempts were made to increase the expression efficacy of the therapeutic TCRs and to reduce the chance of mispairing of the therapeutic TCRs with patient endogenous TCRs. For instance, codon-optimization of the transferred TCR genes enhanced the protein expression level of the transferred TCRs;

Substitution of the human constant regions of the TCRs by murine constant regions (murinization) improved transferred TCR expression and pairing (Cohen et al., 2006). Further researches indicated that optimal expression of the therapeutic TCRs could be achieved by just replacing a few amino acids with murine sequences in the constant region (Sommermeyer and Uckert, 2010).

1.3.2.2 Transfer of CAR engineered T cells

CARs are constructs composed of antibody single-chain variable fragments (ScFv) fused to T cell signaling domains. As demonstrated in early studies (Gross et al., 1989; Kuwana et al., 1987), CAR engineering redirects the T cells to recognize cognate cell surface antigens without the restriction of antigen processing and MHC-dependent presentation (Lim and June, 2017; Hinrichs and Rosenberg, 2014). The therapeutic benefit of this property is to prevent tumor escape by MHC downregulation (Restifo et al., 1996). On the other hand, the application of CAR T cells is limited since they cannot target intracellular antigens.

The scFv domains of most available anti-human CARs originated from murine monoclonal antibodies. Occasionally, human antibody and T cell responses against CARs were reported (Lamers et al., 2011; Kershaw et al., 2006; Jensen et al., 2010). To minimize the problem, transgenic mice with humanized immunoglobulin loci might represent as a solution. The first-generation CARs contained a single signaling domain usually from CD3 ζ or FcR γ , but it soon became clear that it could not provide sufficient signaling for the CARs T cells to survive *in vivo* upon repeated antigen exposure (Brocker, 2000; Till et al., 2013). Based on these observations, second-generation CARs were developed with an additional costimulatory signaling domain (CD28, CD137, etc.). The CARs equipped with dual-signaling domains showed superior cell viability and were better candidates for adoptive T cell therapies (Haynes et al., 2002; Textor et al., 2014; Savoldo et al., 2011).

The most successful engineered T cell therapy up-to-date are CD19-CAR trials for B cell malignancies. Complete remission was achieved in more than 90% of the patients with relapse or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Brentjens et al., 2013; Maude et al., 2014; Turtle et al., 2016), and in two out of three patients with chronic leukemia (Kalos et al., 2011). CD19 is expressed in all B cells, yet it turned out that the B cell aplasia induced by CD19 CAR treatment is tolerable given replacement antibody therapy (Lim and June, 2017). Still, it remains a question of how likely it is to replicate the success of CD19-CAR therapy to target widely-expressed antigens with affordable toxicities (Discussed further in "1.3.2.3 Tumor antigens").

1.3.2.3 Tumor antigens

The adaptive immune system can distinguish malignant from normal tissues by a group of antigens called tumor antigens expressed on tumor cells. In 1991, Pierre van der Bruggen et al. identified the first tumor associated antigen named melanoma-associated antigen 1 (MAGE-A1) utilizing CTL clones from a melanoma patient (van der Bruggen et al., 1991). Approaches to identify tumor antigens include serological expression analysis (SEREX), where E.coli expressing cDNA libraries from tumor cells is constructed, and reactive clones are screened with autologous IgG antibodies from patient serum or with tumor specific CTLs (Sahin et al., 1995). In the latter case, additional assays are needed to pinpoint the epitopes (short peptides) which are naturally processed and presented by MHC molecules, and are the actual targets for $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Often, the epitopes can be eluted directly from their bound MHC I or II molecules isolated from tumor cell surface. Although it requires further improvement for the quality and reproducibility of the outcome using such method. The sequences of the eluted peptides could be identified using HPLC-coupled mass-spectrometry (Castelli et al., 1995; Cox et al., 1994).

Tumor antigens can be grouped into "over-expressed", "differentiated", "cancer-testis" and "tumorspecific" antigens. The first three types of tumor antigens are tumor associated-antigens, which are also expressed in normal cells (Tran et al., 2017). As a consequence of central tolerance, it is foreseeable that the autologous T cells against such antigens are deleted or have low avidity.

Over-expressed antigens. Over-expressed antigens are widely expressed in normal tissues, but their protein expression levels are elevated in cancer cells (Bright et al., 2014). Considering their wide expression among normal tissues, this group of antigens could hardly be ideal targets for ATTs. As examples, MHC-restricted fratricide was reported on T cells transduced with high avidity TCRs against survivin (Leisegang et al., 2010), an antigen expressed in various cancers but also in several normal tissues such as hematopoietic cells (Fukuda and Pelus, 2006). A clinical trial using CAR T cells against human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) protein caused recognition of normal cells, leading to death of a patient with metastatic colon cancer (Morgan et al., 2010). A CAR trial against carbonic anhydrase IX (G250) was coupled with treatment-induced liver toxicities in patients (Lamers et al., 2013, 2006).

Differentiation antigens. The expression of differentiation antigens are restricted to certain type of tissues. The toxicities evoked by T cells targeting this group of antigens are often considered acceptable. The first TCR gene therapy trial was administrated against MART-1 in metastatic melanoma, a differentiation antigen which is expressed only in melanocytes. Two out of 15 patients experienced objective response and no autoimmune toxicities were seen in any patients (Morgan et al., 2006). In contrary, subsequent MART-1 TCR trial with a higher affinity TCR caused transient toxicities in skin, eyes and ears of the patients (Johnson et al., 2009). Other differentiation

antigens that are already therapeutic targets include gp100 (Johnson et al., 2009), the oncofetal antigen carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) (Parkhurst et al., 2011), B cell marker CD19 as mentioned earlier, etc.

Cancer-testis antigens. Besides the normal expression in testis and fetal ovaries, epigenetic changes in tumors can trigger the expression of cancer-testis antigens. Since they do not express MHC I molecules (Fiszer D, 1998; Hotta et al., 2000), T cells cannot recognize the normal male germline cells. Additionally, cancer/testis antigens are often expressed in various types of cancers. Hence, this group of antigens represents a relatively safe and ideal target for ATTs. Gene families MAGE, GAGE and BAGE proteins are examples of cancer/testis antigens. A conflicting example is the TCR gene therapy trial against a HLA-A2 restricted MAGE-A3 epitope. Out of the nine patients treated with anti-MAGE-A3 T cells, three experienced mental status changes and two died subsequently (Morgan et al., 2014). Further investigation using real-time quantitative PCR, nanostring and deep sequencing showed that MAGE-A12, which shared the same HLA-A2 epitope with MAGE-A3, was expressed in the brain. Two patients died due to cardiogenic shock in another MAGE-A3 trial using an affinity-enhanced TCR with HLA-A1-restriction, this time caused by off-target toxicity by T cell recognition of an unrelated peptide expressed by the musclespecific protein titin (Linette et al., 2013). The outcome of these clinical trials raises the disastrous consequence of T cell therapies with the wrong targets and calls for careful assessments, both for the antigens and the TCRs, before clinical applications.

NY-ESO-1 is one of the cancer-testis antigen. It was discovered in 1990s with SEREX detected by patient antibodies (Chen et al., 1997). Shortly thereafter, an HLA-A2 restricted epitope of NY-ESO-1 was reported using a melanoma/NY-ESO-1 reactive CTL clone and epitopes predicted by computerized algorithms (Jäger et al., 1998). This epitope, termed NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ (SLLMWITQC), is shared by LAGE-1, another cancer/testis antigen. Several other NY-ESO-1 epitopes, both MHC I and MHC II restricted, have been described (Benlalam et al., 2003; Jäger et al., 2000; Yamaguchi et al., 2004; Zeng et al., 2000; Zarour et al., 2000; Jäger et al., 2002). NY-ESO-1 is widely expressed in different type of cancers, i.e. it is expressed in 10% to 50% of metastatic melanomas, breast, prostate, thyroid, and ovarian cancers, approximately 80% of synovial cell sarcomas, and 100% of round cell liposarcoma (Chen et al., 1997; Barrow et al., 2006; Jungbluth et al., 2001; Gure et al., 2005). The function of NY-ESO-1 is largely unknown.

Currently, two clinical trials targeting NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ have been conducted employing the same affinity-enhanced TCR derived from TCR-1G4. The wildtype TCR-1G4 was generated from a melanoma patient's CTLs (Jäger et al., 1998), and a high affinity mutant with two amino acid substitutions in the CDR3 α domain was generated by bacteriophage display and identified by RNA

transfection and assay techniques (Li et al., 2005; Robbins et al., 2008). In the first trial, five out of eleven patients with metastatic melanoma and four of six patients with synovial cell sarcoma showed objective tumor responses (Robbins et al., 2015, 2011). The other trial enrolled multiple myeloma patients, and 16 out of 20 patients showed tumor responses (Rapoport et al., 2015). Both trials reported no toxicities caused by the transgenic T cells, yet the actual antitumor effect of these NY-ESO-1 T cells still need to be carefully addressed, since the high dose IL-2 (Robbins et al., 2011) or autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) (Rapoport et al., 2015) which were co-administered with the T cell transfer have been reported to show durable tumor responses alone (Klapper et al., 2008; Atkins et al., 1999; Rosenberg et al., 2011; Porrata et al., 2001).

NY-ESO-1 expression in the human thymic medullary epithelial cells (mTECs) was detected by reverse transcriptional PCR (Gotter et al., 2004). Hence, central tolerance might prevent the isolation of high affinity TCRs against NY-ESO-1 from autologous source. *In vitro* maturation of the autologous TCRs as in the case of mutant TCR-1G4 could be a solution, but whether the mutated TCRs would maintain the specificities without off-target toxicities remains a question. Another option is to utilize transgenic mice with humanized T cell recognition system, as described in Section 1.4.

Tumor-specific antigens. Tumor specific antigens include viral antigens and antigens encoded by non-synonymous mutated genes. The latter generates neoepitopes which can be targeted by T cells. The expression of tumor-specific antigens arises during the tumorigenesis in a cancer cellrestricted manner and often are crucial for tumorigenesis (driver-mutations) (Schietinger et al., 2008). In theory, T cell therapies targeting this group of antigens are tumor-specific without causing autoimmune toxicities (Blankenstein et al., 2015). Furthermore, therapies targeting drivermutations will likely eliminate the tumor (Anders et al., 2011). Tumor associated viral antigens include those derived from EBV and human papillomavirus (HPV) (Kenter et al., 2009; Riemer et al., 2010; Papadopoulos et al., 1994). Whole exome sequencing facilitates the identification of tumor mutations. Exomic sequencing with large cohort of cancer samples of different origins indicate the different mutation rates across different cancer types, i.e. melanomas and lung cancers often contained more than 100 mutations/Mb, while pediatric cancers showed mutation frequencies as low as 0.1/Mb (Lawrence et al., 2013). It often requires further steps to recognize the naturally processed epitope containing the mutations, which is usually done by computer algorithm prediction (Yadav et al., 2014; Robbins et al., 2013; Matsushita et al., 2012; van Rooij et al., 2013; Castle et al., 2012).

Despite the promises of targeting tumor-specific antigens as it was repeatedly shown in animal models (Schreiber et al., 2006) and indicated by the outcomes of checkpoint-inhibitor therapies (Rizvi et al., 2015; Allen et al., 2015; Snyder et al., 2014), the mutated antigens are rarely shared among individuals except for some hot-spot mutations such as mutations in KRAS. Personalized treatment represents one of the options for development of T cell therapies against tumor specific antigens (Rosenberg and Restifo, 2015; June et al., 2015).

1.4 Transgenic mice with humanized T cell recognition systems

Transgenic mice with human MHC transgenes are in use both for production of TCRs (Chinnasamy et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2009) and identification of the epitopes (Kievits et al., 1987; Touloukian et al., 2000) of human tumor antigens. Although the TCRs that are generated with such approach often require further affinity maturation (Chinnasamy et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2009). Human TCR transgenic mice were generated for the purpose of studying the immune tolerance mechanisms in humans, developing optimal affinity TCRs for immunotherapies, and addressing questions such as TCR-MHC coevolution, etc.

The human TCR transgenic mice were previously established in the lab. In brief, yeast cells with yeast artificial chromosomes (YACs) containing either the whole human TCR α (huTRA, ~1.4 Mb) or TCR β (huTRB, ~0.7 Mb) gene locus were fused with 129Sv-derived embryonic stem cells to generate huTRA or huTRB transgenic mice. The single TRA/TRB transgenic mice were crossed to murine TCR α or β knocked-out mice, and subsequently crossed to each other. The T cells from the resulting mice expressed complete human $\alpha\beta$ TCRs and lacked the expression of murine $\alpha\beta$ TCRs. These transgenic mice were named AB*ab* mice. AB*ab* mice were then crossed to HHDII mice, which expressed a single chimeric molecule of human HLA-A*0201 linked to mouse H-2D^b $\alpha3$ transmembrane domain and human $\beta2m$ and were double knocked-out for murine H-2D^b and $\beta2m$ (Pascolo et al., 1997), to generate AB*ab*DII mice (Li et al., 2010); or crossed to DR4 mice to generate AB*ab*DR4 mice. The DR4 mice contained a transgene which consisted of antigenrecognition regions from HLA-DRA and HLA-DRB1*0401 linked to the $\alpha2$ and $\beta2$ domains from mouse I-E^d, and deficient in mouse MHC IIs (Ito et al., 1996) (Table 1).

1.4.1 Human TCR repertoire selected by human/mouse MHC II in studying TCR-MHC coevolution

Structural and mutational analysis of TCR-pMHC complexes depicts only few of the billions of different possible combinations. Therefore, we wished to address the problem from a different viewpoint, based on several assumptions. We reasoned that thymic selection is the most sensitive read-out to detect subtle differences in affinity between a defined MHC molecule and any given

TCR. Even though it is known that mouse TCRs can be selected on human MHC (Ito et al., 1996; Kievits et al., 1987) and human TCRs can be selected on mouse MHC, we assumed that mouse and human TCR and MHC gene loci further coevolved after their divergence ~75 million years ago (Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium et al., 2002), resulting in changes in thymic selection of a polyclonal repertoire depending on whether TCR-pMHC interaction was inter- or intra-species specific.

Therefore, we employed AB*ab* mice with either a single human MHC II (HLA-DRB1*0401; HLA-DR4 hereafter) or a single mouse MHC II gene (I-A^b). TCR deep-sequencing of peripheral CD4 T cells from both mouse lines revealed distinct differences in their repertoire, compatible with coevolution of TCR and MHC (Chen et al., 2017).

1.4.2 AB*ab*DII mice for generation of optimal affinity human TCRs against cancer/testis antigen NY-ESO-1

One of the problems of using TCRs from human MHC transgenic mice in the clinic is the risk of developing host immune responses to the murine TCRs (Davis et al., 2010). As a result, it might compromise the persistence of the transferred T cells and the efficacy of such therapies. Moreover, the potential interspecies incompatibilities between murine TCRs and human MHCs might lower the chance of developing T cell responses in the transgenic mice. AB*ab* mice, on the other hand, have no such problem since the whole T cell recognition system is humanized.

As mentioned earlier, NY-ESO-1 is a tumor-associated antigen whose expression has been detected in human mTEC cells (Gotter et al., 2004). Central tolerance could delete high affinity CD8 T cell clones against NY-ESO-1 in humans. T cells modified with TCRs generated in AB*ab*DII mice could be a solution to circumvent the low avid human T cells and increase the therapeutic potencies (Linnemann et al., 2013; Obenaus et al., 2015).

Mouse line	Mouse TCRs	Human TCRs	Mouse MHC I	Human MHC I	Mouse MHC II	Human MHC II
AB <i>ab</i> DII	-	+	-	HLA-A2 chimeric	+	-
AB <i>ab</i> DR4	-	+	+	-	-	HLA-DR4 chimeric
HHDII	+	-	-	HLA-A2 chimeric	+	-
DR4	+	-	+	-	-	HLA-DR4 chimeric
ABab	-	+	+	-	+	-

Table 1: TCR and MHC genotypes of different mouse strains

+: positive for the genotype; -: negative for the genotype

2.1 Part 1: Characterization of transgenic mice with a humanized T cell recognition system

2.1.1 Transgenic mice with a diverse human T cell antigen receptor repertoire

(Li LP, et al., *Nat. Med.* 16:1029–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2197)

Page 21- 54 are only available in the printed version

2.1.2 Human TCR-MHC coevolution after divergence from mice includes increased nontemplate-encoded CDR3 diversity

(Chen X, et al., J. Exp. Med. 214:3417-3433. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20161784)

Page 56-78 are only available in the printed version

2.2 Part 2: Identification of optimal affinity TCRs against cancer/testis antigen NY-ESO-1

2.2.1 High-throughput identification of antigen-specific TCRs by TCR gene capture (Linnemann C, et al., *Nat. Med.* 19:1534–1541. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3359)

Pages 80 to 109 are only available in the printed version

2.2.2 Identification of human T-cell receptors with optimal affinity to cancer antigens using antigen-negative humanized mice (Obenaus M, et al., *Nat. Biotechnol.* 33:402–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3147)

Page 111-136 are only available in the printed version

Discussion

The first part of the thesis characterized the transgenic mice with humanized T cell recognition system by analyzing the human TCR repertoire diversity selected on different MHCs and examining the functionalities of the T cells from the mice while encountering antigens. Also, we provided evidence supporting human TCR and human MHC II coevolution. The second part of the thesis focused on isolation of TCRs against NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅/HLA-A*0201 from the AB*ab*DII mice. The murine derived human TCRs transduced T cells had higher affinity and functionality than TCR-1G4 which was isolated from the human tolerant system.

3.1 Part 1: Characterization of transgenic mice with humanized T cell recognition system

Similar to that in the human immunoglobulin transgenic mice (Lonberg et al., 1994; Lee et al., 2014; Green et al., 1994; Fishwild et al., 1996), the human T cell transgenic mice were capable of employing mouse rearrangement machineries to produce functional human TCR α/β chains. In addition, the transgenic T cell precursors developed normally in mouse thymus and became peripheral T cells. This required the pairing of the functional rearranged human TCR β chains with murine pre- α chain to form pre-TCRs for β selection and the successful selection of T thymocytes by murine self-antigens presented by murine or human MHC molecules.

In the following, the human TCR repertoire selected on a single human MHC I or II will be discussed, and the evidence for TCR-MHC coevolution will be addressed mainly in MHC II settings.

3.1.1 Diverse and functional human TCR repertoire selected by a single HLA-A2 molecule in AB*ab*DII mice

Positive selection involves the contact of the germline-encoded CDR1 and 2 domains of the TCRs with self pMHCs. The inherent affinity between TCRs and MHCs has long been postulated (Marrack et al., 2008). Human HLA-A2 molecule could select a functional (Lonberg et al., 1994; Huang et al., 2013; Tan et al., 2017; Nakatsugawa et al., 2011; Ramage et al., 2004) and diverse (Firat et al., 2002) mouse TCR repertoire in HHD mice, confirming the existence of conserved amino acid interactions between the TCRs and the MHCs (Scott-Browne et al., 2011, 2009). But it was less efficient compared to the selection in AB*ab*DII mice, which was demonstrated by the elevated numbers of CD8 single positive thymocytes and peripheral CD8 T cells. This was most likely due to the inter-species incompatibility between TCRs and MHCs. Nevertheless, AB*ab*DII mice contained less peripheral CD8 T cells than AB*ab* mice, which implies that multiple MHC-Is (H-2^b and H-2^d molecules) in the AB*ab* mice compensated for the sub-optimal affinities between

human TCRs and murine MHCs. Additionally, the low HHD expression (Pascolo et al., 1997) might hinder the positive selection of T cells in AB*ab*DII mice.

A single MHC I molecule, HLA-A2, was able to select almost all human TCR α/β V and J segments. The peripheral T cell repertoire in AB*ab*DII mice was diverse, which was suggested by the TCR CDR3 length analysis of the CD3 or CD8 T cell pools.

A major concern about ABabDII mice was whether TCRs with a complete human constant region could function normally in mouse T cells, since in transgenic mice with full human B cell receptor (BCR) chains, the B cells had reduced signaling by the BCRs, which limited the antibody class switching and affinity maturation (Lonberg et al., 1994; Green et al., 1994; Fishwild et al., 1996). In contrast, the human constant region was capable of producing sufficient downstream signaling for the mouse T cells, suggested by the fact that ABabDII mice responded efficiently to HLA-A2 restricted antigen challenges, with the predicted IC₅₀ ranging from 5 nM to more than 1000 nM. In particular, CD8 T cell responses against a HLA-A2 epitope of Mart-1 were analyzed and the specific TCRs were identified. The Mart-1 specific TCRs are rather similar, or even the same for one TCR α chain, to the ones isolated from autoimmune vitiligo or melanoma patients. It was unexpected, since Mart-1 was expressed in the thymus of humans. But later it was discovered that the respective Mart-1 epitope was secluded from the expression in the thymus (Pinto et al., 2014). The observation of closely resembled TCR usages for Mart-1 in the humans and the mice indicated that the TCR repertoire selected in ABabDII mice might be functionally overlapping with the ones in humans. To sum up, ABabDII mice were proven to be a valid tool to isolate suitable TCRs against human pathogens and cancer cells. They are also useful to study CD8 T cell responses in humans, such as immunohierarchy of human pathogenic antigens, public TCRs for EBVs, etc. (own unpublished observation).

3.1.2 Evidence supporting human TCR-MHC II coevolution in ABabDR4 mice

The TCR-MHC coevolution hypothesis represents an interesting explanation for the TCR bias for MHCs. Controversial discussions were made regarding the hypothesis, with good arguments from both sides. Although most of the TCR-pMHC crystallographic tertiary structures or CDR1 and CDR2 mutations analysis suggest the existing of inherent affinities of TCRs to MHCs (Rossjohn et al., 2015; Marrack et al., 2008), they depict only few of the millions of TCR-pMHC interactions. Meanwhile, several other studies suggested that the MHC restriction on TCRs might be imposed during thymic selection (Beringer et al., 2015; Gras et al., 2010; Sethi et al., 2011; Tynan et al., 2005; Tikhonova et al., 2012; Van Laethem et al., 2007), and it is not always easy to distinguish what is the exception and what is the rule.

Hence, we took another approach to address the question. With the observation that HLA-A2 selected higher numbers of CD8 T cells in AB*ab*DII mice than in HHD mice, we proposed that murine TCRs might have sub-optimal affinity to human MHCs and vice versa. We assumed that the differences in the inherent affinity between TCR and MHC in mice and humans are subtle due to the relatively short evolutionary distance, and that thymic selection is the most sensitive read-out to detect such differences. Using AB*ab*DII and AB*ab*DR4 mice, which expressed a single murine or human MHC II, we investigated the different capacity of a single MHC to select T cells with any possible functionally rearranged TCRs using TCR deep-sequencing. By comparing the human TCR repertoires pre- and post-selected on a single human or mouse MHC II allele, we provided evidence for TCR-MHC coevolution.

Biased TCR usage by MHC II molecules

Consistent with previous reports (Robins et al., 2010; Rubelt et al., 2016), the V, (D), J usages and V-(D)-J combinatory events were not random to generate the pre-selection TCR repertoire. This feature was seen in both humans and mice. Thymic selection with a single MHC II further biased the repertoire, where different MHC IIs had distinct imprints for selecting TCRs. The preference for different TCR V genes was determined by specific amino acids on the MHCs (Sharon et al., 2016). The imprinted choice for TCRs was the most likely reason that there were higher numbers of shared TCRa/ β clonotypes within than between the two mouse lines. Even more interesting is the fact that humans shared more TCR clonotypes with human MHC II-expressing mice (11% ± 0.3% TCRa and 1.3 ± 0.1% TCR β chains) than with AB*ab*DII mice (9.6% ± 0.2% TCRa and 1.1 ± 0.2% TCR β). It provided another evidence for the intra-species TCR-MHC coevolution. The abundance of shared TCRa or TCR β single chains between different species and independent of the MHC II profile suggests that $\alpha\beta$ chain combinatorial pairing plays a larger role for creating diversity than previously thought (Arstila et al., 1999).

Human HLA-DR4 selected a more diverse human TCR repertoire than murine I-A^b

The I-A^b molecule selected almost all human TCR V, (D), J genes and V-(D)-J combinations. The peripheral CD4 T cell repertoire in AB*ab*DII mice was diverse, suggesting that most of the inherent affinity between TCRs and MHCs existed long before human and mice diverged. It agreed with the studies showing that there were conserved germline-encoded features of some TCR V regions that promote recognition of MHCs (Scott-Browne et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2007; Scott-Browne et al., 2009; Maynard et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2000; Newell et al., 2011; Sim et al., 1996; Manning et al., 1998; Dai et al., 2008). However, compared to AB*ab*DR4 mice, AB*ab*DII had a reduced thymic

output and lower peripheral TCR repertoire diversity. In fact, AB*ab*DR4 generated 30% more TCR α / β clonotypes in CD4 T cells than AB*ab*DII mice. The increased efficiency in selecting the human TCR repertoire by HLA-DR4 molecule was likely due to the slightly higher inherent affinity between many of the human TCR V genes and the HLA-DR4 molecule, likely in the CDR1 and CDR2 regions (Marrack et al., 2008). To note, HLA-DR4 selected a less diverse murine than selection of human TCR repertoire, since the CD4 T cell immune response was lower in DR4 mice than in AB*ab*DR4 mice.

The increased TCR repertoire selected by HLA-DR4 is reflected in the increased CDR3β length

Besides of having a broader range of CDR3 length distribution, ABabDR4 had in average one amino acid longer CDR3β in CD4 T cells than ABabDII mice. Since ABabDII and ABabDR4 had a similar CDR3 length distribution in the pre-selection TCR repertoire, the longer CDR3ßs could only be because of the thymic selection with HLA-DR4 molecule. We know that wildtype C57BL/6, which have species-compatible TCRs and MHCs, produced the same average CDR3 β length as ABabDR4 mice. Therefore, the shorter CDR3ß length seen in ABabDII TCRs is probably due to the inter-species incompatibility between human TCRs and mouse I-A^b. The species-specific TCRs and MHCs evolved to have optimal intrinsic affinity to each other, whereas the sub-optimal TCR-MHC intrinsic affinity between mouse and human assumedly led to the positive selection of TCRs with shorter CDR3 domains (Gilfillan et al., 1995; Marten et al., 1999; Yassai et al., 2002). Since there are two recombination events in the CDR3 domains of TCR_β chains, namely, V-D and D-J rearrangement, the effect became more prominent in the CDR3ßs. TCRs with shorter CDR3s have a higher risk of cross-reactivity, while longer CDR3s endow a higher specificity to the TCRs (Gavin and Bevan, 1995; Huseby et al., 2008). Accordingly, a significantly higher proportion of CD4 T cells in ABabDII mice developed into Treg cells ($19.9 \pm 4.4\%$), compared to ABabDR4 mice $(10.8 \pm 4.0\%)$. It was interpreted that the TCRs with shorter CDR3 and having higher risk of being cross-reactive in ABabDII mice developed into Treg cells. The CD4 TCRs with average shorter CDR3β selected in ABabDII mice again proved the existence of inherent affinity between TCRs and MHCs within species and TCR-MHC co-evolved.

Mice generate shorter TCR β CDR3 regions than humans. It was reflected in the pre-selection T cell pool, supposedly because of the recombination machinery involved in generating the CDR3 regions. This includes the combined effect of exonuclease and terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT). Notably, both excising and adding of nucleotides from the enzymes increase the diversity of the TCR repertoire, which would explain the 20-fold higher TCR diversity in humans

compared to mice (Arstila et al., 1999; Casrouge et al., 2000; Nikolich-Zugich et al., 2004; Vrisekoop et al., 2014).

A group of human TCR V genes might have sub-optimal affinity to I-A^b

All the evidence stated above indicated that there might be a sub-group of human TCR V genes that have sub-optimal CDR1 and CDR2 domains for contacting mouse I-A^b molecule. We identified these human TCR V genes by comparing the individual V gene usage frequency before and after thymic selection. The pre-selection pool was approximated by out-of-frame TCRs. The "under-represented" TCR V genes, which were less frequent in the post-selection TCR pool, had in average the shortest CDR3 length in AB*ab*DII mice. In contrast, the "under-represented" V genes in AB*ab*DR4 mice did not have such feature. In fact, they had the longest CDR3 lengths among all groups. Hence, we concluded that the "under-represented" TCR V genes are most likely to have included those V genes that had sub-optimal affinities to I-A^b.

Previous works have suggested that each TCR contained multiple germline-encoded features that maximize their chance of being positively selected by different MHC molecules (Garcia et al., 2009; Marrack et al., 2008). In our study, we propose that in addition to the inherent recognition motifs for MHC, the affinities between TCRs and MHCs can be adjusted by different CDR3 lengths to ensure that TCRs with basically all V genes can be positively selected, which is supported by the fact that AB*ab*DII mice generated CD4 T cells with a diverse human TCR repertoire.

3.2 Part 2: Isolation of optimal affinity TCRs for cancer/testis antigen NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋ 165 in AB*ab*DII mice

NY-ESO-1 is expressed in various types of cancers. In some cases, for instance round cell liposarcoma, it is expressed in 100% of the cancer cells. In contrary, the expression of NY-ESO-1 in normal tissues is restricted to testis and placenta. Therefore, NY-ESO-1 belongs to a group of cancer antigens termed "cancer-testis antigens" (see section 1.3.2.3 for detail). Although it remains unclear whether humans are tolerant to cancer-testis antigens, evidence from different studies favors its existence. For example, the expression of several cancer-testis antigens, including NY-ESO-1, were detected at cDNA level in human mTECs (Gotter et al., 2004). In another study, Huijbers and his colleagues described the central tolerance in mice against a mouse cancer-testis antigen P1A. P1A-knockout mice, which were generated in this study, contained higher reactive T cells against a P1A epitope than in wildtype mice (Huijbers et al., 2012).
Due to its shared expression among cancer cells and its restricted expression in normal tissues, NY-ESO-1 is claimed to be a good target for cancer therapies. Two clinical trials were conducted against the HLA-A*0201 restricted NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ employing an *in vitro* matured TCR isolated from a melanoma patient called TCR-1G4. This TCR has mutations on the CDR3 α of TCR-1G4 (Jäger et al., 1998), where leucine and tyrosine substituted the original threonine and serine at position 95 and 96 of TCR α chain (Robbins et al., 2008). In both clinical trials, anti-tumor responses but no toxicities were induced by the T cell treatment (Rapoport et al., 2015; Robbins et al., 2011), suggesting that NY-ESO-1 could be a safe target for T cell therapy for cancer. To note, the specificity of the mutant TCR-1G4 and its efficiency in cancer treatment is still unclear and yet to be addressed.

ABabDII mice responded robustly to NY-ESO-1157-165

Human MHC I transgenic mice are widely used to understand the immune responses to human viral and cancer antigens in humans (Chinnasamy et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2009; Kievits et al., 1987; Touloukian et al., 2000; Alexander et al., 2003; Vitiello et al., 1991). Concerns for such approaches come from two aspects: 1) the antigen processing and presentation machineries may differ between humans and mice (Kotturi et al., 2009). Mainly, the murine transporter associated protein (TAP) is biased strongly to peptides with hydrophobic C-termini, while human TAP is more permissive to peptides with both hydrophobic and basic termini (Burgevin et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2016). Two endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidases (ERAPs) are involved in peptide trimming in humans while there is only one in mice (Saveanu et al., 2005). Besides, there might be subtle differences in immunoproteasome and tapasin activities between humans and mice (Sesma et al., 2003). 2) The murine TCRs and human MHCs might be incompatible for each other and limit the immune responses in the transgenic mice (See Section 3.1).

NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ contains a cysteine at the 9th position, which might be the anchor position for HLA-A*0201 binding. It is predicted to be a bad binder to HLA-A*0201 (IC50: 1015 nM), yet the immunization with NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ peptide evoked efficient CD8 T cell responses in AB*ab*DII mice. Interestingly, *ABabDII* mice immunized with NY-ESO-1 full antigen responded robustly against NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅, demonstrating that AB*ab*DII mice processed and presented NY-ESO-1 similarly as in humans. Moreover, it suggests that mouse CD4 T cells, which were restricted on murine I-A^b molecule presented epitopes, could provide sufficient signaling for priming of human HLA-A2 restricted NY-ESO-1 specific CD8 T cells. Hence, AB*ab*DII mice are proven to be useful tools to study the CD8 T cell responses to NY-ESO-1. More than 85% of the AB*ab*DII mice responded to the naturally processed NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ epitope, indicating that NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ is efficiently

processed and presented in mice, and probably also in human cancer cells. T cell therapies targeting this epitope are promising due to its abundancy in cancers.

ABabDII mice generated high-affinity TCRs against NY-ESO-1157-165

An important facet in the success of ATTs using TCR-engineered T cells is to obtain optimal affinity TCRs. Wildtype TCR affinities are in the range of 1-100 μ M (K_D) (Davis et al., 1998). *In vitro* mutagenesis can generate TCRs exceeding this range, but it might not improve T cell avidities, since TCR affinity and T cell functionality do not correlate linearly, but as a bell-shape curve (Schmid et al., 2010; Kalergis et al., 2001). Additionally, *in vitro* affinity matured TCRs might lose their specificity (Linette et al., 2013). HLA transgenic mice are often human antigen negative, the additional human TCR transgenes ensure optimal affinities between the TCRs and the human MHCs. Hence the mice are good sources to generate effective TCRs against human antigens.

Using a high-throughput DNA-based strategy, we were able to identify TCRs specific for NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ in the AB*ab*DII mice that were immunized and responded to NY-ESO-1. TCR-ESO, which is one of the TCRs isolated, showed higher affinity and functionality compared to the melanoma patient-derived TCR1G4. Our results demonstrated that optimal affinity TCRs against human cancer antigens can be isolated from AB*ab*DII mice. High affinity NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅ specific TCRs are most likely clonally deleted in humans due to central tolerance, similar to the case for MAGE-A1 (Obenaus et al., 2015).

3.3 Final remarks

AB*ab*DII and AB*ab*DR4 mice were generated for the purpose of producing optimal affinity TCRs against human pathogens and cancers, and increasing the efficacy of adoptive T cell therapy. We showed in both MHC I and MHC II settings, that the human TCR transgenes increased the thymic output of the human MHC transgenic mice and the human TCR repertoire restricted on human MHC molecules responded better to antigen stimulation. With the human TCR gene loci transgenic mice, we were able to investigate the interactions between TCRs and MHCs. Our findings suggest, mostly in the MHC II setting, that the intrinsic affinities between TCRs and MHCs developed long before the divergence of humans and mice. Afterwards, human TCRs and MHCs co-evolved further to maintain optimal germline affinity for each other. We identified a sub-group of human TCR V genes that have sub-optimal affinities to mouse I-A^b molecule, and they adopted shorter CDR3βs in order to be positively selected. This group of V genes might be different for other MHCs, since each MHC has its own preferred and non-preferred V genes (Sharon et al., 2016).

Our data supports the TCR-MHC coevolution hypothesis from a new aspect, and gives insights into how TCRs adjust their CDR3 lengths to cope with the inherent affinity difference to MHCs, in order to be positively selected. The TCR-MHC interspecies incompatibility between humans and mice represents a potential obstacle, since human MHC transgenic mice with mouse TCR repertoire are widely used in pre-clinical studies. The TCR repertoire in these mice might be limited and the TCRs might be sub-optimal to the human antigens that are presented on human MHCs. Mice with a complete humanized T cell recognition system can overcome such problems. Hence, they are proper tools to study human T cell responses and to isolate therapeutic human TCRs.

In our study, we compared the human TCR repertoires restricted on HLA-DR4 or I-A^b molecule. In order to generalize our finding, further studies are required that include more human and mice MHCs, especially with those which are homologues to each other.

Following the characterization of AB*ab*DII *and ABab*DR4 mice, we utilized the AB*ab*DII mice to study CD8 T cell immune response against an HLA-A*0201 epitope, NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅, of the cancer antigen NY-ESO-1. AB*ab*DII mice naturally processed and presented NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₆₅, and generated robust CD8 responses against this epitope. The TCRs isolated from the ABabDII mice showed higher affinity and functionality than the one isolated from human, suggesting that humans are tolerant to NY-ESO-1.

Due to the cysteine at the anchor position of NY-ESO- $1_{157-165}$, computer algorithms could not properly predict the IC50 of its binding to MHC. Hence, it remains an open question, and further experiments await for evaluation of the epitope as clinical target for cancer treatment. In the future, the specificities of the isolated NY-ESO- $1_{157-165}$ TCRs need to be addressed. It is also our particular interest to compare our TCRs to the therapeutic mutant TCR-1G4, both in vitro and in a mouse tumor model.

Abbreviation

ATT	Adoptive T cell therapy
BCR	B cell receptor
CARs	Chimeric antigen receptors
CDR	Complementarity determining region
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen
CML	Chronic myelogenous leukemia
cTECs	Cortical thymic epithelial cells
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes antigen 4
CTLs	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
D gene	Diversity gene
DLI	Donor leukocyte infusion
DP T cells	Double positive T cells
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ERAPs	endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidases
Glu	Glutamic acid
GvHD	Graft-versus-host disease
GVL	Graft-versus-leukemia
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HPV	Human papillomavirus
HSCT	Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL-2	Interleukin 2
J gene	Joining gene
MHCs	Major histocompatibility complexes
mTECs	Medullary epithelial cells
PD-1	Programmed death 1 receptor
pMHCs	Peptide-MHCs
PTLD	Post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders
SEREX	Serological expression analysis
SP T cells	Single positive T cells
ТАР	Transporter associated protein

T _{CM}	Central memory T cell
Tcon	Conventional T cells
TCRs	T cell receptors
TdT	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase
T _{EM}	Effector memory T cell
Th cells	T helper cells
TILs	Infiltrated T lymphocytes
T _N	Naïve T cell
Treg	Regulatory T cells
T _{SCM}	T memory stem cell
Tyr	Tyrosine
V gene	Variable gene
YACs	Yeast artificial chromosomes

References

- Adams, J.J., S. Narayanan, M.E. Birnbaum, S.S. Sidhu, S.J. Blevins, M.H. Gee, L. V Sibener,
 B.M. Baker, D.M. Kranz, and K.C. Garcia. 2016. Structural interplay between germline
 interactions and adaptive recognition determines the bandwidth of TCR-peptide-MHC
 cross-reactivity. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:87–94. doi:10.1038/ni.3310.
- Alexander, J., C. Oseroff, J. Sidney, and A. Sette. 2003. Derivation of HLA-B*0702 transgenic mice: Functional CTL repertoire and recognition of human B*0702-restricted CTL epitopes. *Hum. Immunol.* 64:211–223. doi:10.1016/S0198-8859(02)00786-3.
- Allen, E.M. Van, D. Miao, B. Schilling, S.A. Shukla, C. Blank, L. Zimmer, A. Sucker, U. Hillen,
 M.H. Geukes, S.M. Goldinger, J. Utikal, J.C. Hassel, B. Weide, K.C. Kaehler, C. Loquai, P.
 Mohr, R. Gutzmer, R. Dummer, S. Gabriel, C.J. Wu, D. Schadendorf, and L.A. Garraway.
 2015. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. *Science*. 350:207–211. doi:10.1126/science.aad0095.
- Anders, K., C. Buschow, A. Herrmann, A. Milojkovic, C. Loddenkemper, T. Kammertoens, P. Daniel, H. Yu, J. Charo, and T. Blankenstein. 2011. Oncogene-targeting T cells reject large tumors while oncogene inactivation selects escape variants in mouse models of cancer. *Cancer Cell*. 20:755–767. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.10.019.
- Arstila, T.P., A. Casrouge, V. Baron, J. Even, J. Kanellopoulos, and P. Kourilsky. 1999. A direct estimate of the human αβ T cell receptor diversity. *Science*. 286:958–961. doi:10.1126/science.286.5441.958.
- Artyomov, M.N., M. Lis, S. Devadas, M.M. Davis, and A.K. Chakraborty. 2010. CD4 and CD8 binding to MHC molecules primarily acts to enhance Lck delivery. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107:16916–16921. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010568107.
- Atkins, B.M.B., M.T. Lotze, J.P. Dutcher, R.I. Fisher, G. Weiss, K. Margolin, J. Abrams, M.
 Sznol, D. Parkinson, M. Hawkins, C. Paradise, L. Kunkel, and S.A. Rosenberg. 1999. Highdose recombinant Interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma; analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 17:2105–2116.
- Barnes, D., and J. Loutit. 1957. Treatment of murine leukaemia with X-rays and homologous bone marrow. *Br. J. Haematol.* 3:241–51.

- Barrow, C., J. Browning, D. MacGregor, I.D. Davis, S. Sturrock, A.A. Jungbluth, and J. Cebon.
 2006. Tumor antigen expression in melanoma varies according to antigen and stage. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 12:764–771. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1544.
- Benlalam, H., B. Linard, Y. Guilloux, A. Moreau-Aubry, L. Derre, E. Diez, B. Dreno, F. Jotereau, and N. Labarriere. 2003. Identification of five new HLA-B*3501-restricted epitopes derived from common melanoma-associated antigens, spontaneously recognized by tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes. *J.Immunol.* 171:6283–6289. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.6283.
- Berger, C., M.C. Jensen, P.M. Lansdorp, M. Gough, C. Elliott, S.R. Riddell, and others. 2008.
 Adoptive transfer of effector CD8+ T cells derived from central memory cells establishes persistent T cell memory in primates. *J. Clin. Invest.* 118:294–305. doi:10.1172/295.
- Beringer, D.X., F.S. Kleijwegt, F. Wiede, A.R. van der Slik, K.L. Loh, J. Petersen, N.L. Dudek, G. Duinkerken, S. Laban, A. Joosten, J.P. Vivian, Z. Chen, A.P. Uldrich, D.I. Godfrey, J. McCluskey, D.A. Price, K.J. Radford, A.W. Purcell, T. Nikolic, H.H. Reid, T. Tiganis, B.O. Roep, and J. Rossjohn. 2015. T cell receptor reversed polarity recognition of a self-antigen major histocompatibility complex. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:1153-1161. doi:10.1038/ni.3271.
- Bevan, M.J. 1977. In a radiation chimera, host H-2 antigens determine immune responsiveness of donor cytoxic cells. *Nature*. 269:417–418.
- Blackman, M., J. Yagüe, R. Kubo, D. Gay, C. Coleclough, E. Palmer, J. Kappler, and P. Marrack. 1986. The T cell repertoire may be biased in favor of MHC recognition. *Cell*. 47:349–357. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(86)90591-X.
- Blankenstein, T., M. Leisegang, W. Uckert, and H. Schreiber. 2015. Targeting cancer-specific mutations by T cell receptor gene therapy. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 33:112–119. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2015.02.005.
- Blattman, J.N. 2002. Estimating the precursor frequency of naive antigen-specific CD8 T Cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 195:657–664. doi:10.1084/jem.20001021.
- Bonini, C., G. Ferrari, L. Verzeletti, M. Ponzoni, S. Rossini, F. Mavilio, C. Traversari, and C.
 Bordignon. 1997. HSV-TK gene transfer into donor lymphocytes for control of allogeneic
 Graft-versus-Leukemia. *Science*. 276:1719–1724. doi:10.1126/science.276.5319.1719.

Boussiotis, V.A. 2015. Somatic Mutations and Immunotherapy Outcome. N. Engl. J. Med.

371:2014-2016. doi:10.1056/NEJMe1413061.

- Brentjens, R., M. Davila, I. Riviere, J. Park, and X. Wang. 2013. CD19-targeted T cells rapidly induce molecular remissions in adults with chemotherapy-refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 5:177ra38. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005930.
- Bright, R.K., J.D. Bright, and J.A. Byrne. 2014. Overexpressed oncogenic tumor-self antigens. *Hum. Vaccines Immunother.* 10:3297–3305. doi:10.4161/hv.29475.
- Brocker, T. 2000. Chimeric Fv-zeta or Fv-epsilon receptors are not sufficient to induce activation or cytokine production in peripheral T cells. *Blood.* 96:1999–2001.
- van der Bruggen, P., C. Traversari, P. Chomez, C. Lurquin, E. De Plaen, B. Van den Eynde, A. Knuth, and T. Boon. 1991. A gene encoding an antigen recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. *Science*. 254:1643–7. doi:10.1126/science.1840703.
- Burgevin, A., L. Saveanu, Y. Kim, É. Barilleau, M. Kotturi, A. Sette, P. van Endert, and B. Peters.
 2008. A detailed analysis of the murine TAP transporter substrate specificity. *PLoS One*.
 3:e2402. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002402.
- Casrouge, A., E. Beaudoing, S. Dalle, C. Pannetier, J. Kanellopoulos, and P. Kourilsky. 2000. Size estimate of the αβ TCR repertoire of naive mouse splenocytes. *J. Immunol.* 164:5782– 5787. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.11.5782.
- Castelli, C., W. Storkus, M. Maeurer, D.M. Martin, E.C. Huang, S.B.N. Pramanik, T.L. Nagabhushan, G. Parmiani, and M.T. Lotze. 1995. Mass spectrometric identification of a naturally processed melanoma peptide recognized by CD8⁺ Cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med.* 181:363–368.
- Castle, J.C., S. Kreiter, J. Diekmann, M. Löwer, N. Van De Roemer, J. De Graaf, A. Selmi, M. Diken, S. Boegel, C. Paret, M. Koslowski, A.N. Kuhn, C.M. Britten, C. Huber, Ö. Türeci, and U. Sahin. 2012. Exploiting the mutanome for tumor vaccination. *Cancer Res.* 72:1081–1091. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3722.
- Chen, X., L. Poncette, and T. Blankenstein. 2017. Human TCR-MHC coevolution after divergence from mice includes increased nontemplate-encoded CDR3 diversity. *J. Exp. Med.* 214:3417–3433. doi:10.1084/jem.20161784.
- Chen, Y.T., M.J. Scanlan, U. Sahin, O. Tureci, A.O. Gure, S. Tsang, B. Williamson, E. Stockert,

M. Pfreundschuh, L.J. Old, O. Türeci, A.O. Gure, S. Tsang, B. Williamson, E. Stockert, M. Pfreundschuh, and L.J. Old. 1997. A testicular antigen aberrantly expressed in human cancers detected by autologous antibody screening. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 94:1914–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.5.1914.

- Chinnasamy, N., J.A. Wargo, Z. Yu, M. Rao, T.L. Frankel, J.P. Riley, J.J. Hong, M.R. Parkhurst, S.A. Feldman, D.S. Schrump, N.P. Restifo, P.F. Robbins, S.A. Rosenberg, and R.A. Morgan. 2011. A TCR targeting the HLA-A*0201-restricted epitope of MAGE-A3 recognizes multiple epitopes of the MAGE-A antigen superfamily in several types of cancer. *J. Immunol.* 186:685–696. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001775.
- Cohen, C.J., Y. Zhao, Z. Zheng, S.A. Rosenberg, and R.A. Morgan. 2006. Enhanced antitumor activity of murine-human hybrid T-cell receptor (TCR) in human lymphocytes is associated with improved pairing and TCR/CD3 stability. *Cancer Res.* 66:8878–8886. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1450.
- Collins, R.H., O. Shpilberg, W.R. Drobyski, D.L. Porter, S. Giralt, R. Champlin, S.A. Goodman, S.N. Wolff, W. Hu, C. Verfaillie, A. List, W. Dalton, N. Ognoskie, A. Chetrit, J.H. Antin, and J. Nemunaitis. 1997. Donor leukocyte infusions in 140 patients with relapsed malignancy after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 15:433–444. doi:10.1200/JCO.1997.15.2.433.
- Coulie, P.G., F. Lehmann, B. Lethé, J. Herman, C. Lurquin, M. Andrawiss, and T. Boon. 1995. A mutated intron sequence codes for an antigenic peptide recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 92:7976–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.17.7976.
- Cox, A.L., J. Skipper, Y. Chen, R. a Henderson, T.L. Darrow, J. Shabanowitz, V.H. Engelhard,
 D.F. Hunt, and C.L. Slingluff. 1994. Identification of a peptide recognized by five melanomaspecific human cytotoxic T cell lines. *Science*. 264:716–9. doi:10.1126/science.7513441.
- Crawford, F., H. Kozono, J. White, P. Marrack, and J. Kappler. 1998. Detection of antigenspecific T cells with multivalent soluble class II MHC covalent peptide complexes. *Immunity*. 8:675–682. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80572-5.
- Dai, S., E.S. Huseby, K. Rubtsova, J. Scott-Browne, F. Crawford, W. A. Macdonald, P. Marrack, and J.W. Kappler. 2008. Crossreactive T cells spotlight the germline rules for αβ T cell

receptor interactions with MHC molecules. *Immunity*. 28:324–334. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.01.008.

- Davis, J.L., M.R. Theoret, Z. Zheng, C. Lamers, S.A. Rosenberg, and R.A. Morgan. 2010. Development of human anti-murine T cell receptor antibodies in both responding and nonresponding patients enrolled in TCR gene thereapy trials. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 16:5852–5861. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1280.
- Davis, M.M., and P.J. Bjorkman. 1988. T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition. *Nature*. 334:395–402. doi:10.1038/334395a0.
- Davis, M.M., J.J. Boniface, Z. Reich, D. Lyons, J. Hampl, B. Arden, and Y. Chien. 1998. Ligand Recognition By Aβ T Cell Receptors. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 16:523–544. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.523.
- Dössinger, G., M. Bunse, J. Bet, J. Albrecht, P.J. Paszkiewicz, B. Weißbrich, I. Schiedewitz, L. Henkel, M. Schiemann, M. Neuenhahn, W. Uckert, and D.H. Busch. 2013. MHC multimer-guided and cell culture-independent isolation of functional T cell receptors from single cells facilitates TCR identification for immunotherapy. *PLoS One*. 8:e61384. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061384.
- Dudley, M.E., J.R. Wunderlich, J.C. Yang, P. Hwu, D.J. Schwartzentruber, S.L. Topalian, R.M. Sherry, F.M. Marincola, S.F. Leitman, C.A. Seipp, L. Rogers-Freezer, K.E. Morton, A. Nahvi, S.A. Mavroukakis, D.E. White, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2002. A phase I study of nonmyeloablative chemotherapy and adoptive transfer of autologous tumor antigen-specific T lymphocytes in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J. Immunother.* 25:243–51. doi:10.1097/01.cji.0000016820.36510.89.
- Ellebaek, E., T. Iversen, N. Junker, M. Donia, L. Engell-Noerregaard, Ö. Met, L. Hölmich, R. Andersen, S. Hadrup, M. Andersen, P. thor Straten, and I. Svane. 2012. Adoptive cell therapy with autologous tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and low-dose Interleukin-2 in metastatic melanoma patients. *J. Transl. Med.* 10:169. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-10-169.
- Engels, B., H. Cam, T. Schüler, S. Indraccolo, M. Gladow, C. Baum, T. Blankenstein, and W. Uckert. 2003. Retroviral vectors for high-level transgene expression in T lymphocytes. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 14:1155–68. doi:10.1089/104303403322167993.

Evans, L.S., P.R. Witte, A.L. Feldhaus, B.H. Nelson, S.R. Riddell, P.D. Greenberg, S.D. Lupton,

and L.A. Jones. 1999. Expression of chimeric granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor/interleukin 2 receptors in human cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones results in granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-dependent growth. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 10:1941–1951. doi:10.1089/10430349950017301.

- Feng, D., C.J. Bond, L.K. Ely, J. Maynard, and K.C. Garcia. 2007. Structural evidence for a germline-encoded T cell receptor-major histocompatibility complex interaction "codon". *Nat. Immunol.* 8:975–983. doi:10.1038/ni1502.
- Fink, P.J., and M.J. Bevan. 1978. H-2 antigens of the thymus determine lymphocyte specificity. *J. Exp. Med.* 148:766–775. doi:10.1084/jem.148.3.766.
- Finn, O.J. 2008. Cancer immunology. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 358:2704–15. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-44946-2_2.
- Firat, H., M. Cochet, P.-S. Rohrlich, F. Garcia-Pons, S. Darche, O. Danos, F. a Lemonnier, and P. Langlade-Demoyen. 2002. Comparative analysis of the CD8(+) T cell repertoires of H-2 class I wild-type/HLA-A2.1 and H-2 class I knockout/HLA-A2.1 transgenic mice. *Int. Immunol.* 14:925–934.
- Fishwild, D.M., S.L. O'Donnell, T. Bengoechea, D. V Hudson, F. Harding, S.L. Bernhard, D. Jones, R.M. Kay, K.M. Higgins, S.R. Schramm, and N. Lonberg. 1996. High-avidity human IgG kappa monoclonal antibodies from a novel strain of minilocus transgenic mice. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 14:845–51. doi:10.1038/nbt0796-845.
- Fiszer D, K.M. 1998. Major histocompatibility complex expression on human, male germ cells: a review. Am J Reprod Immunol. 40:172–176.
- Frecha, C., C. Lévy, F.-L. Cosset, and E. Verhoeyen. 2010. Advances in the field of lentivectorbased transduction of T and B lymphocytes for gene therapy. *Mol. Ther.* 18:1748–57. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.178.
- Fujishima, M., M. Hirokawa, N. Fujishima, and K. Sawada. 2005. TCRαβ repertoire diversity of human naturally occurring CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 99:193–7. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2005.02.011.
- Fukuda, S., and L.M. Pelus. 2006. Survivin, a cancer target with an emerging role in normal adult tissues. *Mol Cancer Ther.* 5:1087–98. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0375.

- Garcia, K.C., J.J. Adams, D. Feng, and L.K. Ely. 2009. The molecular basis of TCR germline bias for MHC is surprisingly simple. *Nat. Immunol.* 10:143–7. doi:10.1038/ni.f.219.
- Gattinoni, L., C.A. Klebanoff, D.C. Palmer, C. Wrzesinski, K. Kerstann, Z. Yu, S.E. Finkelstein,
 M.R. Theoret, S.A. Rosenberg, and N.P. Restifo. 2005. Acquisition of full effector function
 in vitro paradoxically impairs the in vivo antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred CD8⁺ T
 cells. J. Clin. Invest. 115:1616–1626. doi:10.1172/JCI24480.
- Gattinoni, L., E. Lugli, Y. Ji, Z. Pos, C.M. Paulos, M.F. Quigley, J.R. Almeida, E. Gostick, Z. Yu,
 C. Carpenito, E. Wang, D.C. Douek, D.A. Price, C.H. June, F.M. Marincola, M. Roederer,
 and N.P. Restifo. 2011. A human memory T cell subset with stem cell-like properties. *Nat Med.* 17:1290–1297. doi:10.1038/nm.2446.
- Gattinoni, L., D.J. Powell, S.A. Rosenberg, and N.P. Restifo. 2006. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: building on success. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6:383–93. doi:10.1038/nri1842.
- Gattinoni, L., X. Zhong, D.C. Palmer, Y. Ji, C.S. Hinrichs, Z. Yu, C. Wrzesinski, A. Boni, L. Cassard, L. Church, M. Paulos, P. Muranski, and N.P. Restifo. 2009. Wnt signalling arrests effector T cell differentiation and generates CD8⁺ memory stem cells. *Nat. Med.* 15:808–813. doi:10.1038/nm.1982.Wnt.
- Gavin, M.A., and M.J. Bevan. 1995. Increased peptide promiscuity provides a rationale for the lack of N regions in the neonatal T cell repertoire. *Immunity*. 3:793–800. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90068-3.
- Gerbitz, A., M. Sukumar, F. Helm, A. Wilke, C. Friese, C. Fahrenwaldt, F.M. Lehmann, C. Loddenkemper, T. Kammertoens, J. Mautner, C.A. Schmitt, T. Blankenstein, and G.W. Bornkamm. 2012. Stromal interferon-γ signaling and cross-presentation are required to eliminate antigen-loss variants of B cell lymphomas in mice. *PLoS One*. 7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034552.
- Germain, R.N. 2002. T-cell development and the CD4–CD8 lineage decision. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2:309–322. doi:10.1038/nri798.
- Gettinger, S.N., L. Horn, L. Gandhi, D.R. Spigel, S.J. Antonia, N.A. Rizvi, J.D. Powderly, R.S.
 Heist, R.D. Carvajal, D.M. Jackman, L. V. Sequist, D.C. Smith, P. Leming, D.P. Carbone,
 M.C. Pinder-Schenck, S.L. Topalian, F.S. Hodi, J.A. Sosman, M. Sznol, D.F. McDermott,
 D.M. Pardoll, V. Sankar, C.M. Ahlers, M. Salvati, J.M. Wigginton, M.D. Hellmann, G.D.

Kollia, A.K. Gupta, and J.R. Brahmer. 2015. Overall survival and long-term safety of nivolumab (anti-programmed death 1 antibody, BMS-936558, ONO-4538) in patients with previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 33:2004–2012. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.58.3708.

- Gilfillan, S., C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 1995. Mice lacking terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase: adult mice with a fetal antigen receptor repertoire. *Immunol. Rev.* 148:201–19.
- Gotter, J., B. Brors, M. Hergenhahn, and B. Kyewski. 2004. Medullary Epithelial Cells of the Human Thymus Express a Highly Diverse Selection of Tissue-specific Genes Colocalized in Chromosomal Clusters. J. Exp. Med. 199:155–166. doi:10.1084/jem.20031677.
- Gras, S., Z. Chen, J.J. Miles, Y.C. Liu, M.J. Bell, L.C. Sullivan, L. Kjer-Nielsen, R.M. Brennan, J.M. Burrows, M. a Neller, R. Khanna, A.W. Purcell, A.G. Brooks, J. McCluskey, J. Rossjohn, and S.R. Burrows. 2010. Allelic polymorphism in the T cell receptor and its impact on immune responses. *J. Exp. Med.* 207:1555–1567. doi:10.1084/jem.20100603.
- Green, L.L., M.C. Hardy, C.E. Maynard-Currie, H. Tsuda, D.M. Louie, M.J. Mendez, H.
 Abderrahim, M. Noguchi, D.H. Smith, Y. Zeng, N.E. David, H. Sasai, D. Garza, D.G.
 Brenner, J.F. Hales, R.P. McGuinness, D.J. Capon, S. Klapholz, and a Jakobovits. 1994.
 Antigen-specific human monoclonal antibodies from mice engineered with human Ig heavy and light chain YACs. *Nat. Genet.* 7:13–21. doi:10.1038/ng0594-13.
- Gross, G., T. Waks, and Z. Eshhar. 1989. Expression of immunoglobulin-T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibody-type specificity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 86:10024–10028. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.24.10024.
- Gure, A.O., R. Chua, B. Williamson, M. Gonen, C.A. Ferrera, S. Gnjatic, G. Ritter, A.J.G. Simpson, Y.T. Chen, L.J. Old, and N.K. Altorki. 2005. Cancer-testis genes are coordinately expressed and are markers of poor outcome in non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 11:8055–8062. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1203.
- Hamad, A.R., S.M. O'Herrin, M.S. Lebowitz, A. Srikrishnan, J. Bieler, J. Schneck, and D. Pardoll. 1998. Potent T cell activation with dimeric peptide-major histocompatibility complex class II ligand: the role of CD4 coreceptor. *J. Exp. Med.* 188:1633–1640. doi:10.1084/jem.188.9.1633.

Haynes, N.M., J.A. Trapani, M.W.L. Teng, J.T. Jackson, L. Cerruti, S.M. Jane, M.H. Kershaw,

M.J. Smyth, and P.K. Darcy. 2002. Single-chain antigen recognition receptors that costimulate potent rejection of established experimental tumors. *Blood*. 100:3155–3163. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-04-1041.

- Higano, C., M. Brixey, E. Bryant, D. Dumam, K. Doney, K. Sullivan, and J. Singer. 1990. Durable complete remission of acute nonlymphocytic leukemia associated with discontinuation of immunosuppression following relapse after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. A case report of a probable graft-versus-leukemia effect. *Transplantation*. 50:175–177.
- Hinrichs, C.S., Z. A. Borman, L. Gattinoni, Z. Yu, W.R. Burns, C. a Klebanoff, L. a Johnson, S.P. Kerkar, S. Yang, P. Muranski, D.C. Palmer, C.D. Scott, R. a Morgan, P.F. Robbins, S. a Rosenberg, N.P. Restifo, and J. Huang. 2011. Human effector CD8⁺ T cells derived from naive rather than memory subsets possess superior traits for adoptive immunotherapy Human effector CD82 T cells derived from naive rather than memory subsets possess superior traits for adoptive jossess superior traits for adoptive immunotherapy. *Blood*. 117:808–814. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-286286.
- Hinrichs, C.S., Z.A. Borman, L. Cassard, L. Gattinoni, R. Spolski, Z. Yu, L. Sanchez-Perez, P. Muranski, S.J. Kern, C. Logun, D.C. Palmer, Y. Ji, R.N. Reger, W.J. Leonard, R.L. Danner, S.A. Rosenberg, and N.P. Restifo. 2009. Adoptively transferred effector cells derived from naive rather than central memory CD8+ T cells mediate superior antitumor immunity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106:17469–17474. doi:10.1073/pnas.0907448106.
- Hinrichs, C.S., and S.A. Rosenberg. 2014. Exploiting the curative potential of adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. *immunol rev.* 257:56–71. doi:10.1111/imr.12132.
- Hodi, F., S. O'Day, D. McDermott, R. Weber, J. Sosman, J. Haanen, R. Gonzalez, C. Robert, D. Schadendorf, J. HAassel, W. Akerley, A. van den Eertwegh, J. Lutzky, P. Lorigan, J. Vaubel, G. Linette, D. Hogg, C. Ottensmeier, C. Lebbe, C. Peschel, I. Quirt, J. Clark, D. Wolchok, J. Weber, J. Tian, M. Yellin, G. Nichol, A. Hoos, and W. Urba. 2010. Improved survival with Ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 363:711–723.
- Holler, P.D., L.K. Chlewicki, and D.M. Kranz. 2003. TCRs with high affinity for foreign pMHC show self-reactivity. *Nat. Immunol.* 4:55–62. doi:10.1038/ni863.

Holler, P.D., and D.M. Kranz. 2003. Quantitative analysis of the contribution of TCR/pepMHC

affinity and CD8 to T cell activation. *Immunity*. 18:255–264. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00019-0.

- Horowitz, M., R. Gale, P. Sondel, J. Goldman, J. Kersey, H. Kolb, A. Rimm, O. Ringden, C.
 Rozman, and B. Speck. 1990. Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow
 transplantation. *Blood.* 75:555–62.
- Hotta, C., T. Nagata, M. Nakazawa, H. Fujimaki, M. Yoshinari, and M. Minami. 2000. Impaired expression of MHC class I molecules on mouse testicular germ cells is mainly caused by the post-transcriptional mechanism. Immunogenetics. 51:624–631. doi:10.1007/s002510000195.
- Howie, B., A.M. Sherwood, A.D. Berkebile, J. Berka, R.O. Emerson, D.W. Williamson, I. Kirsch,
 M. Vignali, M.J. Rieder, C.S. Carlson, and H.S. Robins. 2015. High-throughput pairing of T
 cell receptor α and β sequences. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:301ra131.
 doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aac5624.
- Hsieh, C.S., H.M. Lee, and C.W.J. Lio. 2012. Selection of regulatory T cells in the thymus. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 12:157–167. doi:10.1038/nri3155.
- Huang, M., W. Zhang, J. Guo, X. Wei, K. Phiwpan, J. Zhang, and X. Zhou. 2016. Improved transgenic mouse model for studying HLA class I antigen presentation. *Sci. Rep.* 6:33612. doi:10.1038/srep33612.
- Huang, X., X. Lü, Y. Lei, J. Yang, M. Yao, H. Lan, J. Zhang, Z. Jia, W. Yin, and Z. Xu. 2013.
 Cellular immunogenicity of a multi-epitope peptide vaccine candidate based on hepatitis C virus NS5A, NS4B and core proteins in HHD-2 mice. *J. Virol. Methods.* 189:47–52.
 doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.01.003.
- Huijbers, I.J., S.M. Soudja, C. Uyttenhove, M. Buferne, E.-M. Inderberg-Suso, D. Colau, L.
 Pilotte, C.G. Powis de Tenbossche, P. Chomez, F. Brasseur, A.-M. Schmitt-Verhulst, and
 B.J. Van den Eynde. 2012. Minimal tolerance to a tumor antigen encoded by a cancergermline gene. *J. Immunol.* 188:111–121. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002612.
- Hunder, N., H. Wallen, J. Cao, D. Hendricks, J. Reilly, R. Rodmyre, A. Jungbluth, S. Gnjatic, J. Thompson, and C. Yee. 2008. Treatment of metastatic melanoma with autologous CD4⁺ T cells against NY-ESO-1. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 358:2698–703. doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.

- Huppa, J.B., M. Axmann, M. a Mörtelmaier, B.F. Lillemeier, E.W. Newell, M. Brameshuber, L.O.
 Klein, G.J. Schütz, and M.M. Davis. 2010. TCR-peptide-MHC interactions in situ show
 accelerated kinetics and increased affinity. *Nature*. 463:963–7. doi:10.1038/nature08746.
- Huseby, E.S., J.W. Kappler, and P. Marrack. 2008. Thymic selection stifles TCR reactivity with the main chain structure of MHC and forces interactions with the peptide side chains. *Mol. Immunol.* 45:599–606. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2006.03.025.
- Huseby, E.S., J. White, F. Crawford, T. Vass, D. Becker, C. Pinilla, P. Marrack, and J.W. Kappler. 2005. How the T cell repertoire becomes peptide and MHC specific. *Cell*. 122:247–260. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.013.
- Ito, K., H.J. Bian, M. Molina, J. Han, J. Magram, E. Saar, C. Belunis, D.R. Bolin, R. Arceo, R. Campbell, F. Falcioni, D. Vidović, J. Hammer, and Z. A Nagy. 1996. HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class II-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J. Exp. Med.* 183:2635–2644. doi:10.1084/jem.183.6.2635.
- Itzhaki, O., E. Hovav, Y. Ziporen, D. Levy, A. Kubi, D. Zikich, L. Hershkovitz, A.J. Treves, B.
 Shalmon, D. Zippel, G. Markel, R. Shapira-Frommer, J. Schachter, and M.J. Besser. 2011.
 Establishment and large-scale expansion of minimally cultured "young" tumor infiltrating
 lymphocytes for adoptive transfer therapy. *J. Immunother.* 34:212.
 doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e318209c94c.
- Jäger, E., Y.T. Chen, J.W. Drijfhout, J. Karbach, M. Ringhoffer, D. Jäger, M. Arand, H. Wada, Y. Noguchi, E. Stockert, L.J. Old, and a Knuth. 1998. Simultaneous humoral and cellular immune response against cancer-testis antigen NY-ESO-1: definition of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A2-binding peptide epitopes. *J. Exp. Med.* 187:265–270. doi:10.1084/jem.187.2.265.
- Jäger, E., D. Jäger, J. Karbach, Y.T. Chen, G. Ritter, Y. Nagata, S. Gnjatic, E. Stockert, M. Arand, L.J. Old, and a Knuth. 2000. Identification of NY-ESO-1 epitopes presented by human histocompatibility antigen (HLA)-DRB4*0101-0103 and recognized by CD4(+) T lymphocytes of patients with NY-ESO-1-expressing melanoma. *J. Exp. Med.* 191:625–630. doi:10.1084/jem.191.4.625.
- Jäger, E., J. Karbach, S. Gnjatic, D. Jäger, M. Maeurer, A. Atmaca, J. Skipper, E. Stockert, Y. Chen, L.J. Old, and A. Knuth. 2002. Identification of a naturally processed NY-ESO-1

peptide recognized by CD8⁺ T cells in the context of HLA-B51. Cancer Immun. 12:1–13.

- Jenkins, M.K., and J.J. Moon. 2013. Response to Comment on "The Role of Naive T Cell Precursor Frequency and Recruitment in Dictating Immune Response Magnitude." *J. Immunol.* 190:1896–1896. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1290080.
- Jensen, M.C., L. Popplewell, L.J. Cooper, D. DiGiusto, M. Kalos, J.R. Ostberg, and S.J. Forman. 2010. Antitransgene rejection responses contribute to attenuated persistence of adoptively transferred CD20/CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor redirected T cells in humans. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 16:1245–1256. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.03.014.

Jerne, N.K. 1971. The somatic generation of immune recognition. Eur. J. Immunol. 1:1–9.

- Johnson, L. a, R. a Morgan, M.E. Dudley, L. Cassard, J.C. Yang, M. S, U.S. Kammula, R.E.
 Royal, R.M. Sherry, J.R. Wunderlich, C.R. Lee, N.P. Restifo, S.L. Schwarz, A.P. Cogdill,
 R.J. Biship, H. Kim, C.C. Brewer, S.F. Rudy, C. VanWaes, J.L. Davis, A. Mathur, R.T.
 Ripley, D.A. Nathan, C.M. Laurencot, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2009. Gene therapy with human
 and mouse T cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues
 expressing cognate antigen. *Hematology*. 114:535–547. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-03-211714.
- June, C.H. 2007a. Principles of adoptive T cell cancer therapy. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117:1204–12. doi:10.1172/JCI31446.1204.
- June, C.H., S.R. Riddell, and T.N. Schumacher. 2015. Adoptive cellular therapy: A race to the finish line. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:280ps7–280ps7. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa3643.
- June, C.H. 2007b. Adoptive T cell therapy for cancer in the clinic. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117:1466–1476. doi:10.1172/JCI32446.1466.
- Jung, D., and F.W. Alt. 2004. Unraveling V(D)J RecombinationInsights into Gene Regulation. *Cell*. 116:299–311. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00039-X.
- Jungbluth, A.A., C.R. Antonescu, K.J. Busam, K. Iversen, D. Kolb, K. Coplan, Y.T. Chen, E. Stockert, M. Ladanyi, and L.J. Old. 2001. Monophasic and biphasic synovial sarcomas abundantly express cancer/testis antigen NY-ESO-1 but not MAGE-A1 or CT7. *Int. J. Cancer.* 94:252–256. doi:10.1002/ijc.1451.

Kalergis, A.M., N. Boucheron, M.-A. Doucey, E. Palmieri, E.C. Goyarts, Z. Vegh, I.F. Luescher,

and S.G. Nathenson. 2001. Efficient T cell activation requires an optimal dwell-time of interaction between the TCR and the pMHC complex. *Nat. Immunol.* 2:229–234. doi:10.1038/85286.

- Kalos, M., B. Levine, D. Porter, S. Katz, S.A. Grupp, A. Bagg, and C.H. June. 2011. T Cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 3:95ra73. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3002842.T.
- Kasow, K.A., X. Chen, J. Knowles, D. Wichlan, R. Handgretinger, and J.M. Riberdy. 2004.
 Human CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells share equally complex and comparable repertoires with CD4⁺CD25⁻ counterparts. *J. Immunol.* 172:6123–6128.
 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.10.6123.
- Katsuhara, A., F. Fujiki, N. Aoyama, S. Tanii, S. Morimoto, Y. Oka, A. Tsuboi, H. Nakajima, K. Kondo, N. Tatsumi, J. Nakata, Y. Nakae, S. Takashima, S. Nishida, N. Hosen, S. Sogo, Y. Oji, and H. Sugiyama. 2015. Transduction of a novel HLA-DRB1*04:05-restricted, WT1-specific TCR gene into human CD4⁺ T cells confers killing activity against human leukemia cells. *Anticancer Res.* 35:1251–1262.
- Kenter, G.G., M.J.P. Welters, A.R.P.M. Valentijn, M.J.G. Lowik, D.M.A. Berends-van der Meer, A.P.G. Vloon, F. Essahsah, L.M. Fathers, R. Offringa, J.W. Drijfhout, A.R. Wafelman, J. Oostendorp, G.J. Fleuren, S.H. van der Burg, and C.J.M. Melief. 2009. Vaccination against HPV-16 Oncoproteins for Vulvar Intraepithelial Neoplasia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 361:1838–1847. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0810097.
- Kershaw, M.H., J.A. Westwood, L.L. Parker, G. Wang, Z. Eshhar, S.A. Mavroukakis, D.E. White, J.R. Wunderlich, S. Canevari, L. Rogers-Freezer, C.C. Chen, J.C. Yang, S.A. Rosenberg, and P. Hwu. 2006. A phase I study on adoptive immunotherapy using gene-modified T cells for ovarian cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 12:6106–6115. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1183.
- Kieback, E., J. Charo, D. Sommermeyer, T. Blankenstein, and W. Uckert. 2008. A safeguard eliminates T cell receptor gene-modified autoreactive T cells after adoptive transfer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 105:623–628. doi:10.1073/pnas.0710198105.

Kievits, F., P. Ivanyi, P. Krimpenfort, A. Berns, and H.L. Ploegh. 1987. HLA-restricted recognition

of viral antigens in HLA transgenic mice. Nature. 329:447-9. doi:10.1038/329447a0.

- Klapper, J.A., S.G. Downey, F.O. Smith, J.C. Yang, M.S. Hughes, U.S. Kammula, R.M. Sherry, R.E. Royal, S.M. Steinberg, and S. Rosenberg. 2008. High-dose interleukin-2 for the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: A retrospective analysis of response and survival in patients treated in the Surgery Branch at the National Cancer Institute between 1986 and 2006. *Cancer*. 113:293–301. doi:10.1002/cncr.23552.
- Klebanoff, C. a, S.E. Finkelstein, D.R. Surman, M.K. Lichtman, L. Gattinoni, M.R. Theoret, N. Grewal, P.J. Spiess, P. a Antony, D.C. Palmer, Y. Tagaya, S. A. Rosenberg, T. A. Waldmann, and N.P. Restifo. 2004. IL-15 enhances the in vivo antitumor activity of tumor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101:1969–1974. doi:10.1073/pnas.0307298101.
- Klebanoff, C.A., L. Gattinoni, and N.P. Restifo. 2006. CD8⁺ T-cell memory in tumor immunology and immunotherapy. *Immunol. Rev.* 211:214–224. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00391.x.
- Klebanoff, C.A., L. Gattinoni, P. Torabi-Parizi, K. Kerstann, A.R. Cardones, S.E. Finkelstein,
 D.C. Palmer, P.A. Antony, S.T. Hwang, S.A. Rosenberg, T.A. Waldmann, and N.P. Restifo.
 2005. Central memory self/tumor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells confer superior antitumor immunity
 compared with effector memory T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 102:9571–9576.
 doi:10.1073/pnas.0503726102.
- Klein, G., H. Sögren, E. Klein, and K. Hellström. 1960. Demonstration of resistance against methykholanthrene-induced sarcomas in the primary autochthonous host. *Cancer Res.* 20:1561–1572.
- Kloosterman, T., A. Martens, D. van Bekkum, and A. Hagenbeek. 1995. Graft-versus-leukemia in rate MHC-mismatched bone marrow transplantation is merely an allogeneic effect. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 15:583–90.
- Kloosterman, T., M. Tielemans, A. Martens, D. van Bekkum, and A. Hagenbeek. 1994.
 Quantitative studies on graftversus- leukemia after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation in rat models for acute myelocytic and lymphocytic leukemia. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 14:15– 22.
- Kolb, H.-J. 2011. ASH 50th anniversary review Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. *Hematology*. 112:4371–4383. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-077974.

- Kolb, H.J., a Schattenberg, J.M. Goldman, B. Hertenstein, N. Jacobsen, W. Arcese, P. Ljungman, a Ferrant, L. Verdonck, D. Niederwieser, F. van Rhee, J. Mittermueller, T. de Witte, E. Holler, and H. Ansari. 1995. Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. *Blood.* 86:2041–2050.
- Kotturi, M.F., E. Assarsson, B. Peters, H. Grey, C. Oseroff, V. Pasquetto, and A. Sette. 2009. Of mice and humans: How good are HLA transgenic mice as a model of human immune responses? *Immunome Res.* 5:1–7. doi:10.1186/1745-7580-5-3.
- Krogsgaard, M., and M.M. Davis. 2005. How T cells "see" antigen. *Nat. Immunol.* 6:239–245. doi:10.1038/ni1173.
- Kuwana, Y., Y. Asakura, N. Utsunomiya, M. Nakanishi, Y. Arata, S. Itoh, F. Nagase, and Y.
 Kurosawa. 1987. Expression of chimeric receptor composed of immunoglobulin-derived V resions and T-cell receptor-derived C regions. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 149:960–968. doi:10.1016/0006-291X(87)90502-X.
- Van Laethem, F., S.D. Sarafova, J.-H. Park, X. Tai, L. Pobezinsky, T.I. Guinter, S. Adoro, A. Adams, S.O. Sharrow, L. Feigenbaum, and A. Singer. 2007. Deletion of CD4 and CD8 coreceptors permits generation of alphabetaT cells that recognize antigens independently of the MHC. *Immunity*. 27:735–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.10.007.
- Van Laethem, F., A.N. Tikhonova, L. a Pobezinsky, X. Tai, M.Y. Kimura, C. Le Saout, T.I. Guinter, A. Adams, S.O. Sharrow, G. Bernhardt, L. Feigenbaum, and A. Singer. 2013. Lck availability during thymic selection determines the recognition specificity of the T cell repertoire. *Cell*. 154:1326–41. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.009.
- Lamers, C.H., S. Sleijfer, S. van Steenbergen, P. van Elzakker, B. van Krimpen, C. Groot, A. Vulto, M. den Bakker, E. Oosterwijk, R. Debets, and J.W. Gratama. 2013. Treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with CAIX CAR-engineered T cells: clinical evaluation and management of on-target toxicity. *Mol Ther*. 21:904–912. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.17.
- Lamers, C.H.J., S. Sleijfer, A.G. Vulto, W.H.J. Kruit, M. Kliffen, R. Debets, J.W. Gratama, G. Stoter, and E. Oosterwijk. 2006. Treatment of Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma With Autologous T-Lymphocytes Genetically Retargeted Against Carbonic Anhydrase IX: First Clinical Experience. J. Clin. Oncol. 24:e20–e22. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.05.9964.

Lamers, C.H.J., R. Willemsen, P. Van Elzakker, S. Van Steenbergen-langeveld, M. Broertjes, J.

Oosterwijk-wakka, E. Oosterwijk, S. Sleijfer, R. Debets, and J.W. Gratama. 2011. Immune responses to transgene and retroviral vector in patients treated with ex vivo – engineered T cells. *Blood.* 117:72–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-07-294520.

- Lawrence, M.S., P. Stojanov, P. Polak, G. V Kryukov, K. Cibulskis, A. Sivachenko, S.L. Carter, C. Stewart, C.H. Mermel, S.A. Roberts, A. Kiezun, P.S. Hammerman, A. McKenna, Y. Drier, L. Zou, A.H. Ramos, T.J. Pugh, N. Stransky, E. Helman, J. Kim, C. Sougnez, L. Ambrogio, E. Nickerson, E. Shefler, M.L. Cortés, D. Auclair, G. Saksena, D. Voet, M. Noble, D. DiCara, P. Lin, L. Lichtenstein, D.I. Heiman, T. Fennell, M. Imielinski, B. Hernandez, E. Hodis, S. Baca, A.M. Dulak, J. Lohr, D.-A. Landau, C.J. Wu, J. Melendez-Zajgla, A. Hidalgo-Miranda, A. Koren, S. a McCarroll, J. Mora, R.S. Lee, B. Crompton, R. Onofrio, M. Parkin, W. Winckler, K. Ardlie, S.B. Gabriel, C.W.M. Roberts, J. a Biegel, K. Stegmaier, A.J. Bass, L. a Garraway, M. Meyerson, T.R. Golub, D. a Gordenin, S. Sunyaev, E.S. Lander, and G. Getz. 2013. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. *Nature*. 499:214–8. doi:10.1038/nature12213.
- Le, D.T., J.N. Durham, K.N. Smith, H. Wang, B.R. Bartlett, L.K. Aulakh, S. Lu, H. Kemberling, C. Wilt, B.S. Luber, F. Wong, N.S. Azad, A.A. Rucki, D. Laheru, R. Donehower, A. Zaheer, G.A. Fisher, T.S. Crocenzi, J.J. Lee, T.F. Greten, A.G. Duffy, K.K. Ciombor, A.D. Eyring, B.H. Lam, A. Joe, S.P. Kang, M. Holdhoff, L. Danilova, L. Cope, C. Meyer, S. Zhou, R.M. Goldberg, D.K. Armstrong, K.M. Bever, A.N. Fader, J. Taube, F. Housseau, D. Spetzler, N. Xiao, D.M. Pardoll, N. Papadopoulos, K.W. Kinzler, J.R. Eshleman, B. Vogelstein, R.A. Anders, and L.A. Diaz. 2017. Mismatch-repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. *Science*. 6733:1–11. doi:10.1126/science.aan6733.
- Leclerc, J., E. Gomard, and J. Levy. 1972. Cell-mediated reaction against tumors induced by oncomaviruses. I. Kinetics and specificity of the immune response in murine sarcoma virus (MSV)-induced tumors and transplanted lymphomas. *Int. J. Cancer cancer*. 10:589–601.
- Lee, E.-C., Q. Liang, H. Ali, L. Bayliss, A. Beasley, T. Bloomfield-Gerdes, L. Bonoli, R. Brown, J. Campbell, A. Carpenter, S. Chalk, A. Davis, N. England, A. Fane-Dremucheva, B. Franz, V. Germaschewski, H. Holmes, S. Holmes, I. Kirby, M. Kosmac, A. Legent, H. Lui, A. Manin, S. O'Leary, J. Paterson, R. Sciarrillo, A. Speak, D. Spensberger, L. Tuffery, N. Waddell, W. Wang, S. Wells, V. Wong, A. Wood, M.J. Owen, G.A. Friedrich, and A. Bradley. 2014. Complete humanization of the mouse immunoglobulin loci enables efficient therapeutic antibody discovery. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32:356–363. doi:10.1038/nbt.2825.

- Lee, P.U.Y., H.R.O. Churchill, M.A. Daniels, S.C. Jameson, and D.M. Kranz. 2000. Role of 2C T Cell Receptor Residues in the Binding of Self– and Allo–Major Histocompatibility Complexes. J. Exp. Med. 191:1355–1364. doi:10.1084/jem.191.8.1355.
- Leisegang, M., S. Wilde, S. Spranger, S. Milosevic, B. Frankenberger, W. Uckert, and D.J. Schendel. 2010. Fratricide of recipient lymphocytes expressing surviving-specific transgenic T cell receptors. *J. Clin. Invest.* 33:3869–3877. doi:10.1172/JCI43437.candidate.
- Lesokhin, A.M., M.K. Callahan, M.A. Postow, and J.D. Wolchok. 2015. On being less tolerant: Enhanced cancer immunosurveillance enabled by targeting checkpoints and agonists of T cell activation. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:280sr1. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3010274.
- Li, L., J.C. Lampert, X. Chen, C. Leitao, J. Popović, W. Müller, and T. Blankenstein. 2010. Transgenic mice with a diverse human T cell antigen receptor repertoire. *Nat. Med.* 16:1029–34. doi:10.1038/nm.2197.
- Li, Y., R. Moysey, P.E. Molloy, A. Vuidepot, T. Mahon, E. Baston, S. Dunn, N. Liddy, J. Jacob, B.K. Jakobsen, and J.M. Boulter. 2005. Directed evolution of human T-cell receptors with picomolar affinities by phage display. 23:349–354. doi:10.1038/nbt1070.
- Lim, W.A., and C.H. June. 2017. The Principles of Engineering Immune Cells to Treat Cancer. *Cell*. 168:724–740. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.016.
- Lin, Y., F. Fujiki, A. Katsuhara, Y. Oka, and A. Tsuboi. 2013. HLA-DPB1*05:01-restricted WT1₃₃₂-specific TCR-transduced CD4⁺ T lymphocytes display a helper activity for WT1specific CTL induction and a cytotoxicity against leukemia cells. *J. Immunother.* 36:159– 170. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182873581.
- Linette, G.P., E.A. Stadtmauer, M. V Maus, A.P. Rapoport, B.L. Levine, L. Emery, L. Litzky, A. Bagg, B.M. Carreno, P.J. Cimino, G.K. Binder-scholl, D.P. Smethurst, A.B. Gerry, N.J. Pumphrey, A.D. Bennett, J.E. Brewer, J. Dukes, J. Harper, H.K. Tayton-martin, B.K. Jakobsen, N.J. Hassan, M. Kalos, and C.H. June. 2013. Cardiovascular toxicity and titin cross-reactivity of affinity-enhanced T cells in myeloma and melanoma. *Blood*. 122:863–872. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-03-490565.G.P.L.
- Linnemann, C., B. Heemskerk, P. Kvistborg, R.J.C. Kluin, D.A. Bolotin, X. Chen, K. Bresser, M. Nieuwland, R. Schotte, S. Michels, R. Gomez-Eerland, L. Jahn, P. Hombrink, N. Legrand, C.J. Shu, I.Z. Mamedov, A. Velds, C.U. Blank, J.B.A.G. Haanen, M.A. Turchaninova, R.M.

Kerkhoven, H. Spits, S.R. Hadrup, M.H.M. Heemskerk, T. Blankenstein, D.M. Chudakov, G.M. Bendle, and T.N.M. Schumacher. 2013. High-throughput identification of antigenspecific TCRs by TCR gene capture. *Nat. Med.* 19:1534–1541. doi:10.1038/nm.3359.

- Lonberg, N., L.D. Taylor, F.A. Harding, M. Trounstine, K.M. Higgins, S.R. Schramm, C.C. Kuo, R. Mashayekh, K. Wymore, and J.G. McCabe. 1994. Antigen-specific human antibodies from mice comprising four distinct genetic modifications. *Nature*. 368:856–859. doi:10.1038/368856a0.
- Lu, Y., L. Parker, T. Lu, Z. Zheng, M. Toomey, D. White, X. Yao, Y. Li, P. Robbins, S. Feldman, C. van der Bruggen, P Klebanoff, S. Goff, R. Sherry, U. Kammula, J. Yang, and S. Rosenberg. 2017. Treatment of patients with metastatic cancer using a major histocompatibility complex class II–restricted T-cell receptor targeting the cancer germline antigen MAGE-A3. *J. Clin. Oncol.* doi:10.1200/JCO.2017.74.5463.
- Luescher, I., E. Vivier, A. Layer, J. Mahiou, F. Godeau, B. Malissen, and F. Romero. 1995. CD8 modulation of T-cell antigen receptor-ligand interactions on living cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature*. 373:353–356.
- Mackensen, A., N. Meidenbauer, S. Vogl, M. Laumer, J. Berger, and R. Andreesen. 2006.
 Phase I study of adoptive T-cell therapy using antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 24:5060–5069. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.07.1100.
- Mandl, J.N., J.P. Monteiro, N. Vrisekoop, and R.N. Germain. 2013. T cell-positive selection uses self-ligand binding strength to optimize repertoire recognition of foreign antigens. *Immunity*. 38:263–274. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.09.011.
- Manning, T.C., C.J. Schlueter, T.C. Brodnicki, E.A. Parke, J.A. Speir, K.C. Garcia, L. Teyton, I.A. Wilson, and D.M. Kranz. 1998. Alanine scanning mutagenesis of an αβ T cell receptor: Mapping the energy of antigen recognition. *Immunity*. 8:413–425. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80547-6.
- Marrack, P., J.P. Scott-Browne, S. Dai, L. Gapin, and J.W. Kappler. 2008. Evolutionarily conserved amino acids that control TCR-MHC interaction. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 26:171– 203. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090421.

Marten, N.W., S.A. Stohlman, W. Smith-Begolka, S.D. Miller, E. Dimacali, Q. Yao, S. Stohl, J.

Goverman, and C.C. Bergmann. 1999. Selection of CD8⁺ T cells with highly focused specificity during viral persistence in the central nervous system. *J Immunol.* 162:3905–3914.

- Matsushita, H., M.D. Vesely, D.C. Koboldt, C.G. Rickert, R. Uppaluri, V.J. Magrini, C.D. Arthur, J.M. White, Y.-S. Chen, L.K. Shea, J. Hundal, M.C. Wendl, R. Demeter, T. Wylie, J.P. Allison, M.J. Smyth, L.J. Old, E.R. Mardis, and R.D. Schreiber. 2012. Cancer exome analysis reveals a T-cell-dependent mechanism of cancer immunoediting. *Nature*. 482:400–404. doi:10.1038/nature10755.
- Matsuzaki, J., T. Tsuji, I.F. Luescher, H. Shiku, J. Mineno, S. Okamoto, L.J. Old, P. Shrikant, S. Gnjatic, and K. Odunsi. 2015. Direct tumor recognition by a human CD4⁺ T-cell subset potently mediates tumor growth inhibition and orchestrates anti-tumor immune responses. *Sci. Rep.* 5:14896. doi:10.1038/srep14896.
- Maude, S.L., N. Frey, P. a. Shaw, R. Aplenc, D.M. Barrett, N.J. Bunin, A. Chew, V.E. Gonzalez, Z. Zheng, S.F. Lacey, Y.D. Mahnke, J.J. Melenhorst, S.R. Rheingold, A. Shen, D.T. Teachey, B.L. Levine, C.H. June, D.L. Porter, and S. A. Grupp. 2014. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371:1507–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1407222.
- Maynard, J., K. Petersson, D.H. Wilson, E.J. Adams, S.E. Blondelle, M.J. Boulanger, D.B.
 Wilson, and K.C. Garcia. 2005. Structure of an autoimmune T cell receptor complexed with class II peptide-MHC: Insights into MHC bias and antigen specificity. *Immunity*. 22:81–92. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.11.015.
- McDermott, D.F., C.G. Drake, M. Sznol, T.K. Choueiri, J.D. Powderly, D.C. Smith, J.R. Brahmer, R.D. Carvajal, H.J. Hammers, I. Puzanov, F.S. Hodi, H.M. Kluger, S.L. Topalian, D.M. Pardoll, J.M. Wigginton, G.D. Kollia, A. Gupta, D. McDonald, V. Sankar, J.A. Sosman, and M.B. Atkins. 2015. Survival, durable response, and long-term safety in patients with previously treated advanced renal cell carcinoma receiving Nivolumab. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 33:2013–2020. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.58.1041.
- Mcdonald, B.D., J. Jeffrey, S.A. Erickson, M. Oh-hora, A. Bendelac, B.D. Mcdonald, J.J. Bunker, S.A. Erickson, M. Oh-hora, and A. Bendelac. 2015. Crossreactive αβ T cell receptors are the predominant targets of thymocyte negative selection. *Immunity*. 43:859–8691. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.009.

Merkenschlager, M., D. Graf, M. Lovatt, U. Bommhardt, R. Zamoyska, and A.G. Fisher. 1997.
How many thymocytes audition for selection? *J. Exp. Med.* 186:1149–58.
doi:10.1084/jem.186.7.1149.

Mitchison, N.A. 1953. Passive transfer of transplantation immunity. Nature. 171:267-8.

- Monach, P. a, S.C. Meredith, C.T. Siegel, and H. Schreiber. 1995. A unique tumor antigen produced by a single amino acid substitution. *Immunity*. 2:45–59. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90078-0.
- Morgan, R. a, J.C. Yang, M. Kitano, M.E. Dudley, C.M. Laurencot, and S. A. Rosenberg. 2010. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. *Mol. Ther.* 18:843–851. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.24.
- Morgan, R.A., N. Chinnasamy, D.D. Abate-daga, A. Gros, F. Robbins, Z. Zheng, S.A. Feldman, J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, Q. Phan, M.S. Hughes, U.S. Kammula, A.D. Miller, C.J. Hessman, A.A. Stewart, N.P. Restifo, M.M. Quezado, M. Alimchandani, Z. Rosenberg, A. Nath, T. Wang, B. Bielekova, S.C. Wuest, A. Nirmala, F.J. Mcmahon, S. Wilde, B. Mosetter, J. Dolores, C.M. Laurencot, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2014. Cancer regression and neurologic toxicity following anti-MAGE- A3 TCR gene therapy. *J. Immunother.* 36:133–151. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182829903.Cancer.
- Morgan, R.A., M.E. Dudley, J.R. Wunderlich, M.S. Hughes, J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, R.E. Royal, S.L. Topalian, U.S. Kammula, N.P. Restifo, Z. Zheng, A. Nahvi, C.R. de Vries, L.J. Rogers-Freezer, S.A. Mavroukakis, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2006. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. *Science*. 314:126–9. doi:10.1126/science.1129003.
- Mosmann, T., and R. Coffman. 1989. TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 7:145–173.
- Mostoslavsky, R., F.W. Alt, and K. Rajewsky. 2004. The lingering enigma of the allelic exclusion mechanism. *Cell*. 118:539–544. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.08.023.
- Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium, R.H. Waterston, K. Lindblad-Toh, E. Birney, J.Rogers, J.F. Abril, P. Agarwal, R. Agarwala, R. Ainscough, M. Alexandersson, P. An, S.E.Antonarakis, J. Attwood, R. Baertsch, J. Bailey, K. Barlow, S. Beck, E. Berry, B. Birren, T.

Bloom, P. Bork, M. Botcherby, N. Bray, M.R. Brent, D.G. Brown, S.D. Brown, C. Bult, J.
Burton, J. Butler, R.D. Campbell, P. Carninci, S. Cawley, F. Chiaromonte, A.T. Chinwalla,
D.M. Church, M. Clamp, C. Clee, F.S. Collins, L.L. Cook, R.R. Copley, A. Coulson, O.
Couronne, J. Cuff, V. Curwen, T. Cutts, M. Daly, R. David, J. Davies, K.D. Delehaunty, J.
Deri, E.T. Dermitzakis, C. Dewey, N.J. Dickens, M. Diekhans, S. Dodge, I. Dubchak, D.M.
Dunn, S.R. Eddy, L. Elnitski, R.D. Emes, P. Eswara, E. Eyras, A. Felsenfeld, G.A. Fewell,
P. Flicek, K. Foley, W.N. Frankel, L.A. Fulton, R.S. Fulton, T.S. Furey, D. Gage, R.A. Gibbs,
G. Glusman, S. Gnerre, N. Goldman, L. Goodstadt, D. Grafham, T.A. Graves, E.D. Green,
S. Gregory, R. Guigó, M. Guyer, R.C. Hardison, D. Haussler, Y. Hayashizaki, L.W. Hillier,
A. Hinrichs, W. Hlavina, T. Holzer, F. Hsu, A. Hua, T. Hubbard, A. Hunt, I. Jackson, D.B.
Jaffe, L.S. Johnson, M. Jones, T.A. Jones, et al. 2002. Initial sequencing and comparative
analysis of the mouse genome. *Nature*. 420:520–62. doi:10.1038/nature01262.

- Nakatsugawa, M., K. Horie, T. Yoshikawa, M. Shimomura, Y. Kikuchi, N. Sakemura, S. Suzuki,
 D. Nobuoka, N. Sato, and T. Nakatsura. 2011. Identification of an HLA-A * 0201-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope from the lung carcinoma antigen, Lengsin. *Int. J. Oncol.* 1041–1049. doi:10.3892/ijo.2011.1089.
- Newell, E.W., L.K. Ely, A.C. Kruse, P.A. Reay, S.N. Rodriguez, A.E. Lin, M.S. Kuhns, K.C. Garcia, M.M. Davis, C.K. Garcia, and M.M. Davis. 2011. Structural basis of specificity and cross-reactivity in T cell receptors specific for cytochrome c-I-E(k). *J. Immunol.* 186:5823–5832. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100197.
- Nikolich-Zugich, J., M.K. Slifka, and I. Messaoudi. 2004. The many important facets of T-cell repertoire diversity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 4:123–132. doi:10.1038/nri1292.
- Nishizuka, Y., and T. Sakakura. 1969. Thymus and reproduction: sex-linked dysgenesia of the gonad after neonatal thymectomy in mice. *Science*. 166:753–755.
- Obenaus, M., C. Leitão, M. Leisegang, X. Chen, I. Gavvovidis, P. van der Bruggen, W. Uckert,
 D.J. Schendel, and T. Blankenstein. 2015. Identification of human T-cell receptors with
 optimal affinity to cancer antigens using antigen-negative humanized mice. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 33:402–7. doi:10.1038/nbt.3147.
- OKunewick, J., D. Kochiban, L. Machen, and M. Buffo. 1994. Comparison of the effects of CD3 and CD5 donor T cell depletion on graft-versus-leukemia in a murine model for MHCmatched unrelated donor-transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 13:11–18.

- Papadopoulos, E.B., M. Ladanyi, D. Emanuel, S. Mackinnon, F. Boulad, M.H. Carabasi, H. Castro-Malaspina, B.H. Childs, A.P. Gillio, T.N. Small, J.W. Young, N.A. Kernan, and R.J. O'Reilly. 1994. Infusions of donor leukocytes to treat Epstein-Barr Virus associated lymphoproliferative disorders after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 331:1185–1191.
- Pardoll, D. 2003. Does the immune system see tumors as foreign or self? *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 21:807–839. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141135.
- Parkhurst, M.R., J.C. Yang, R.C. Langan, M.E. Dudley, D.-A.N. Nathan, S.A. Feldman, J.L.
 Davis, R.A. Morgan, M.J. Merino, R.M. Sherry, M.S. Hughes, U.S. Kammula, G.Q. Phan,
 R.M. Lim, S.A. Wank, N.P. Restifo, P.F. Robbins, C.M. Laurencot, and S.A. Rosenberg.
 2011. T cells targeting carcinoembryonic antigen can mediate regression of metastatic
 colorectal cancer but induce severe transient colitis. *Mol. Ther.* 19:620–6.
 doi:10.1038/mt.2010.272.
- Pascolo, B.S., N. Bervas, J.M. Ure, A.G. Smith, F. a Lemonnier, and B. Pérarnau. 1997. HLA-A2.1–restricted Education and Cytolytic Activity of CD8 T lymphocytes from b2
 microglobulin (b2m) HLA-A2.1 monochain transgenic H-2Db b2m double knockout mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 185:2043–2051.

Paul, W., and R. Seder. 1994. Lymphocyte responses and cytokines. Cell. 76:241–251.

- Perica, K., J.C. Varela, M. Oelke, and J. Schneck. 2015. Adoptive T cell immunotherapy for cancer. *Rambam Maimonides Med. J.* 6:e0004. doi:10.5041/RMMJ.10179.
- Pinto, S., D. Sommermeyer, C. Michel, S. Wilde, D. Schendel, W. Uckert, T. Blankenstein, and B. Kyewski. 2014. Misinitiation of intrathymic MART-1 transcription and biased TCR usage explain the high frequency of MART-1-specific T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 44:2811–2821. doi:10.1002/eji.201444499.
- Porrata, L.F., M.A. Gertz, M.R. Litzow, M.Q. Lacy, A. Dispenzieri, D.J. Inwards, S.M. Ansell, I.N. Micallef, D.A. Gastineau, M. Elliott, W.J. Hogan, S.R. Hayman, A. Tefferi, and S.N. Markovic. 2001. Early lymphocyte recovery predicts superior survival after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for patients with primary systemic amyloidosis. *Blood*. 98:579–585. doi:11/3/1210 [pii].

Porter, D.L., and J.H. Antin. 1999. The graft-versus-leukemia effects of allogeneic cell therapy.

Annu. Rev. Med. 50:369-86. doi:10.1146/annurev.med.50.1.369.

- Porter, D.L., R.H. Collins, C. Hardy, N.A. Kernan, W.R. Drobyski, S. Giralt, M.E. Flowers, J. Casper, A. Leahey, P. Parker, R. Mick, B. Bate-Boyle, R. King, and J.H. Antin. 2000.
 Treatment of relapsed leukemia after unrelated donor marrow transplantation with unrelated donor leukocyte infusions. *Blood*. 95:1214–21.
- Purbhoo, M. a, D.J. Irvine, J.B. Huppa, M.M. Davis, M. Krogsgaard, Q. Li, C. Sumen, J.B. Huppa, B.F. Lillemeier, M.A. Mörtelmaier, M.B. Forstner, J.B. Huppa, J.T. Groves, M.M. Davis, A.M. Beal, N. Anikeeva, R. Varma, T.O. Cameron, G. Vasiliver-Shamis, P.J. Norris, M.L. Dustin, Y. Sykulev, A. Scholer, S. Hugues, A. Boissonnas, L. Fetler, S. Amigorena, M.A. Cox, S.R. Barnum, D.C. Bullard, A.J. Zajac, D. a Blair, and M.L. Dustin. 2013. Agonist /endogenous peptide MHC heterodimers drive T cell activation and sensitivity. *Nat. Immunol.* 11:90–96. doi:10.1038/nature03362.1.
- Radvanyi, L.G., C. Bernatchez, M. Zhang, P.S. Fox, P. Miller, J. Chacon, R. Wu, G. Lizee, S. Mahoney, G. Alvarado, M. Glass, V.E. Johnson, J.D. McMannis, E. Shpall, V. Prieto, N. Papadopoulos, K. Kim, J. Homsi, A. Bedikian, W.J. Hwu, S. Patel, M.I. Ross, J.E. Lee, J.E. Gershenwald, A. Lucci, R. Royal, J.N. Cormier, M.A. Davies, R. Mansaray, O.J. Fulbright, C. Toth, R. Ramachandran, S. Wardell, A. Gonzalez, and P. Hwu. 2012. Specific lymphocyte subsets predict response to adoptive cell therapy using expanded autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in metastatic melanoma patients. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18:6758–6770. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1177.
- Ramage, J.M., R. Metheringham, R. Moss, I. Spendlove, R. Rees, and L.G. Durrant. 2004.
 Comparison of the immune response to a self antigen after DNA immunisation of HLA*
 A201 / H-2Kb and HHD transgenic mice. *Vaccine*. 22:1728–1731.
 doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.01.034.
- Rapoport, A.P., E. a Stadtmauer, G.K. Binder-Scholl, O. Goloubeva, D.T. Vogl, S.F. Lacey, A.Z. Badros, A. Garfall, B. Weiss, J. Finklestein, I. Kulikovskaya, S.K. Sinha, S. Kronsberg, M. Gupta, S. Bond, L. Melchiori, J.E. Brewer, A.D. Bennett, A.B. Gerry, N.J. Pumphrey, D. Williams, H.K. Tayton-Martin, L. Ribeiro, T. Holdich, S. Yanovich, N. Hardy, J. Yared, N. Kerr, S. Philip, S. Westphal, D.L. Siegel, B.L. Levine, B.K. Jakobsen, M. Kalos, and C.H. June. 2015. NY-ESO-1-specific TCR-engineered T cells mediate sustained antigen-specific antitumor effects in myeloma. *Nat. Med.* 21:1–20. doi:10.1038/nm.3910.

- Restifo, N., M. Dudley, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2012. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 12:269–281. doi:10.1038/nri3191.
- Restifo, N.P., F.M. Marincola, Y. Kawakami, J. Taubenberger, J.R. Yannelli, and S.A.
 Rosenberg. 1996. Loss of functional Beta 2-Microglobulin in metastatic melanomas from five patients receiving immunotherapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 88:100–108. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.371.
- Riemer, A.B., D.B. Keskin, G. Zhang, M. Handley, K.S. Anderson, V. Brusic, B. Reinhold, and E.L. Reinherz. 2010. A conserved E7-derived cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope expressed on human papillomavirus 16-transformed HLA-A2⁺ epithelial cancers. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285:29608–29622. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.126722.
- Rizvi, N.A., M.D. Hellmann, A. Snyder, P. Kvistborg, V. Makarov, J.J. Havel, W. Lee, J. Yuan, P. Wong, S. Ho, M.L. Miller, N. Rekhtman, A.L. Moreira, F. Ibrahim, B. Gasmi, R. Zappasodi, Y. Maeda, C. Sander, E.B. Garon, T. Merghoub, J.D. Wolchok, T.N. Schumacher, and T.A. Chan. 2015. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non–small cell lung cancer. *Science*. 348:124–128. doi:10.1126/science.aaa1348.
- Robbins, P.F., S.H. Kassim, T.L.N. Tran, J.S. Crystal, R.A. Morgan, S.A. Feldman, J.C. Yang,
 M.E. Dudley, J.R. Wunderlich, R.M. Sherry, U.S. Kammula, M.S. Hughes, N.P. Restifo, M.
 Raffeld, C.C.R. Lee, Y.F. Li, M. El-Gamil, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2015. A pilot trial using
 lymphocytes genetically engineered with an NY-ESO-1-reactive T-cell receptor: Long-term
 follow-up and correlates with response. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 21:1019–1027.
 doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2708.
- Robbins, P.F., Y.F. Li, M. El-Gamil, Y. Zhao, J.A. Wargo, Z. Zheng, H. Xu, R.A. Morgan, S.A. Feldman, L.A. Johnson, A.D. Bennett, S.M. Dunn, T.M. Mahon, B.K. Jakobsen, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2008. Single and dual amino acid substitutions in TCR CDRs can enhance antigen-specific T cell functions. *J. Immunol.* 180:6116–6131. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.6116.
- Robbins, P.F., Y. Lu, M. El-gamil, Y.F. Li, C. Gross, J.C. Lin, J.K. Teer, P. Cliften, E. Tycksen, Y. Samuels, and S. a Rosenberg. 2013. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by adoptively transferred tumor-reactive cells. *Nat. Med.* 19:747–752. doi:10.1038/nm.3161.Mining.

- Robbins, P.F., R.A. Morgan, S.A. Feldman, J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, M.E. Dudley, J.R.
 Wunderlich, A. V. Nahvi, L.J. Helman, C.L. Mackall, U.S. Kammula, M.S. Hughes, N.P.
 Restifo, M. Raffeld, C.C.R. Lee, C.L. Levy, Y.F. Li, M. El-Gamil, S.L. Schwarz, C.
 Laurencot, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2011. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic
 synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive
 with NY-ESO-1. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 29:917–924. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.32.2537.
- Robert, C., L. Thomas, I. Bondarenko, S. O'Day, J.W. M D, C. Garbe, C. Lebbe, J.-F. Baurain,
 A. Testori, J.J. Grob, N. Davidson, J. Richards, M. Maio, A. Hauschild, W.H. Miller, P.
 Gascon, M. Lotem, K. Harmankaya, R. Ibrahim, S. Francis, T.T. Chen, R. Humphrey, A.
 Hoos, and J.D. Wolchok. 2011. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated
 metastatic melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 364:2517–2526. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621.
- Robins, H.S., S.K. Srivastava, P. V Campregher, C.J. Turtle, J. Andriesen, S.R. Riddell, C.S. Carlson, and E.H. Warren. 2010. Overlap and effective size of the human CD8⁺ T cell receptor repertoire. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2:47ra64. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3001442.
- Robinson, J., M.J. Waller, P. Parham, N. De Groot, R. Bontrop, L.J. Kennedy, P. Stoehr, and S.G.E. Marsh. 2003. IMGT/HLA and IMGT/MHC: sequence databases for the study of the major histocompatibility complex. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31:311–314. doi:10.1093/nar/gkg070.
- van Rooij, N., M.M. van Buuren, D. Philips, A. Velds, M. Toebes, B. Heemskerk, L.J.A. van Dijk, S. Behjati, H. Hilkmann, D. el Atmioui, M. Nieuwland, M.R. Stratton, R.M. Kerkhoven, C. Keşmir, J.B. Haanen, P. Kvistborg, and T.N. Schumacher. 2013. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an Ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 31:e439–e442. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521.
- Rosenberg, S. a, J.C. Yang, and N.P. Restifo. 2004. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. *Nat. Med.* 10:909–915. doi:10.1038/nm1100.
- Rosenberg, S.A., and N.P. Restifo. 2015. Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. *Science*. 348:62–68. doi:10.1126/science.aaa4967.
- Rosenberg, S.A., J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, U.S. Kammula, M.S. Hughes, G.Q. Phan, D.E. Citrin, N.P. Restifo, P.F. Robbins, J.R. Wunderlich, K.E. Morton, C.M. Laurencot, S.M. Steinberg, D.E. White, and M.E. Dudley. 2011. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. *Clin. Cancer Res.*

17:4550-4557. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0116.

- Rossjohn, J., S. Gras, J.J. Miles, S.J. Turner, D.I. Godfrey, and J. McCluskey. 2015. T cell antigen receptor recognition of antigen-presenting molecules. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 33:169–200. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112334.
- Rubelt, F., C.R. Bolen, H.M. McGuire, J.A. Vander Heiden, D. Gadala-Maria, M. Levin, G. M Euskirchen, M.R. Mamedov, G.E. Swan, C.L. Dekker, L.G. Cowell, S.H. Kleinstein, and M.M. Davis. 2016. Individual heritable differences result in unique cell lymphocyte receptor repertoires of naïve and antigen-experienced cells. *Nat. Commun.* 7:11112. doi:10.1038/ncomms11112.
- Rufer, N., M. Migliaccio, J. Antonchuk, R.K. Humphries, E. Roosnek, M. Peter, and P.M.
 Lansdorp. 2012. Transfer of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) gene into T lymphocytes results in extension of replicative potential Transfer of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) gene into T lymphocytes results in extension of replicati. *Blood.* 98:597–603. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.3.597.
- Sahin, U., O. Türeci, H. Schmitt, B. Cochlovius, T. Johannes, R. Schmits, F. Stenner, G. Luo, I. Schobert, and M. Pfreundschuh. 1995. Human neoplasms elicit multiple specific immune responses in the autologous host. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 92:11810–3. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.25.11810.
- Sakaguchi, S. 2004. Naturally arising CD4⁺ regulatory T cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 22:531–562. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141122
- Sallusto, F., and A. Lanzavecchia. 2011. Memory in disguise. *Nat. Med.* 17:1182–1183. doi:10.1038/nm.2502.
- Saveanu, L., O. Carroll, V. Lindo, M. Del Val, D. Lopez, Y. Lepelletier, F. Greer, L. Schomburg,
 D. Fruci, G. Niedermann, and P.M. van Endert. 2005. Concerted peptide trimming by
 human ERAP1 and ERAP2 aminopeptidase complexes in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nat. Immunol.* 6:689–97. doi:10.1038/ni1208.
- Savoldo, B., C.A. Ramos, E. Liu, M.P. Mims, M. Keating, G. Carrum, R. Kamble, C. Bollard, A.
 Gee, Z. Mei, H. Liu, B. Grilley, C. Rooney, H. Heslop, M. Brenner, and G. Dotti. 2011. CD28
 costimulation improves expansion and persistence of chimeric antigen receptor-modified T

cells in lymphoma patients. J Clin Invest. 121:1822–1826. doi:10.1172/JCI46110DS1.

- Schietinger, A., M. Philip, and H. Schreiber. 2008. Specificity in cancer immunotherapy. *Semin. Immunol.* 20:276–285. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2008.07.001.
- Schmid, D.A., M.B. Irving, V. Posevitz, M. Hebeisen, A. Posevitz-Fejfar, J.C.F. Sarria, R.
 Gomez-Eerland, M. Thome, T.N.M. Schumacher, P. Romero, D.E. Speiser, V. Zoete, O.
 Michielin, and N. Rufer. 2010. Evidence for a TCR affinity threshold delimiting maximal CD8
 T cell function. *J. Immunol.* 184:4936–4946. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000173.
- Schreiber, K., D.A. Rowley, G. Riethmüller, and H. Schreiber. 2006. Cancer immunotherapy and preclinical studies: Why we are not wasting our time with animal experiments. *Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am.* 20:567–584. doi:10.1016/j.hoc.2006.03.001.
- Schwarz, B.A., and A. Bhandoola. 2006. Trafficking from the bone marrow to the thymus: A prerequisite for thymopoiesis. *Immunol. Rev.* 209:47–57. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00350.x.
- Scott-Browne, J.P., F. Crawford, M.H. Young, J.W. Kappler, P. Marrack, and L. Gapin. 2011. Evolutionarily conserved features contribute to αβ T cell receptor specificity. *Immunity*. 35:526–35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.005.
- Scott-Browne, J.P., J. White, J.W. Kappler, L. Gapin, and P. Marrack. 2009. Germline-encoded amino acids in the αβ T-cell receptor control thymic selection. *Nature*. 458:1043–6. doi:10.1038/nature07812.
- Sesma, L., I. Alvarez, M. Marcilla, A. Paradela, and J.A. López De Castro. 2003. Speciesspecific differences in proteasomal processing and Tapasin-mediated loading influence peptide presentation by HLA-B27 in murine cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278:46461–46472. doi:10.1074/jbc.M308816200.
- Sethi, D.K., D. a Schubert, A.-K. Anders, A. Heroux, D. a Bonsor, C.P. Thomas, E.J. Sundberg, J. Pyrdol, and K.W. Wucherpfennig. 2011. A highly tilted binding mode by a self-reactive T cell receptor results in altered engagement of peptide and MHC. *J. Exp. Med.* 208:91–102. doi:10.1084/jem.20100725.
- Sharon, E., L. V Sibener, A. Battle, H.B. Fraser, K.C. Garcia, and J.K. Pritchard. 2016. Genetic variation in MHC proteins is associated with T cell receptor expression biases. *Nat. Genet.*

48:995-1002. doi:10.1038/ng.3625.

- Sim, B., L. Zerva, M. Greene, and N.R.J. Gascoigne. 1996. Control of MHC restriction by TCR Vα CDR1 and CDR2. *Science*. 273:963–967.
- Snyder, A., V. Makarov, T. Merghoub, J. Yuan, J.M. Zaretsky, A. Desrichard, L. A. Walsh, M. A. Postow, P. Wong, T.S. Ho, T.J. Hollmann, C. Bruggeman, K. Kannan, Y. Li, C. Elipenahli, C. Liu, C.T. Harbison, L. Wang, A. Ribas, J.D. Wolchok, and T. A. Chan. 2014. Genetic Basis for Clinical Response to CTLA-4 Blockade in Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371:2189–2199. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1406498.
- Sommermeyer, D., and W. Uckert. 2010. Minimal amino acid exchange in human TCR constant regions fosters improved function of TCR gene-modified T cells. *J. Immunol.* 184:6223–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902055.
- Southam, C.M., A. Brunschwig, A.G. Levin, and Q.S. Dizon. 1966. Effect of leukocytes on transplantability of human cancer. *Cancer*. 19:1743–1753.
- Spiotto, M., D. Rowley, and H. Schreiber. 2004. Bystander elimination of antigen loss variants in established tumors. *Nat. Med.* 10:294–298. doi:10.1038/nm999
- Spiotto, M., and H. Schreiber. 2005. Rapid destruction of the tumor microenvironment by C1Ls recognizing cancer-specific antigens cross-presented by stromal cells. *Cancer Immun.* 5:8.
- Starr, T.K., S.C. Jameson, and K.A. Hogquist. 2003. Positive and negative selection of T cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 21:139–176. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141107.
- Stepanek, O., A.S. Prabhakar, C. Osswald, C.G. King, A. Bulek, D. Naeher, M. Beaufils-Hugot, M.L. Abanto, V. Galati, B. Hausmann, R. Lang, D.K. Cole, E.S. Huseby, A.K. Sewell, A.K. Chakraborty, and E. Palmer. 2014. Coreceptor scanning by the T cell receptor provides a mechanism for T cell tolerance. *Cell*. 159:333–345. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.042.
- Straetemans, T., M. Van Brakel, S. Van Steenbergen, M. Broertjes, J. Drexhage, J. Hegmans, B.N. Lambrecht, C. Lamers, P. Van Der Bruggen, P.G. Coulie, and R. Debets. 2012. TCR gene transfer: MAGE-C2/HLA-A2 and MAGE-A3/HLA-DP4 epitopes as melanoma-specific immune targets. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/586314.
- Su, L., B. Kidd, a Han, J. Kotzin, and M. Davis. 2013. Virus-specific CD4⁺ memory-phenotype T cells are abundant in unexposed adults. Immunity 38, 373–383. *Immunity*. 38:373–383.

doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.10.021.

- Suchin, E.J., P.B. Langmuir, E. Palmer, M.H. Sayegh, D. Wells, and L. A. Turka. 2001. Quantifying the frequency of alloreactive T cells in vivo: new answers to an old question. *J. Immunol.* 166:973–981. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.973.
- Surh, C.D., and J. Sprent. 1994. T-cell apoptosis detected in situ during positive and negative selection in the thymus. *Nature*. 372:100–103. doi:10.1038/372100a0.
- Surh, C.D., and J. Sprent. 2008. Homeostasis of naive and memory T cells. *Immunity*. 29:848–862. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.002.
- Sussman, J.J., R. Parihar, K. Winstead, and F.D. Finkelman. 2004. Prolonged culture of vaccine-primed lymphocytes results in decreased antitumor killing and change in cytokine secretion. *Cancer Res.* 64:9124–9130. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-0376.
- Tan, A.C.L., N.L. La Gruta, W. Zeng, D.C. Jackson, A.C.L. Tan, N.L. La Gruta, W. Zeng, and D.C. Jackson. 2017. Precursor Frequency and Competition Dictate the HLA-A2 – Restricted CD8⁺ T Cell Responses to Influenza A Infection and Vaccination in HLA-A2.1 Transgenic Mice. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100664.
- Textor, A., J.J. Listopad, L. Le Wührmann, C. Perez, A. Kruschinski, M. Chmielewski, H. Abken, T. Blankenstein, and J. Charo. 2014. Efficacy of CAR T-cell therapy in large tumors relies upon stromal targeting by IFNγ. *Cancer Res.* 74:6796–6805. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0079.
- Tikhonova, A.N., F. Van Laethem, K. Hanada, J. Lu, L.A. Pobezinsky, C. Hong, T.I. Guinter, S.K. Jeurling, G. Bernhardt, J.-H. Park, J.C. Yang, P.D. Sun, and A. Singer. 2012. αβ T cell receptors that do not undergo major histocompatibility complex-specific thymic selection possess antibody-like recognition specificities. *Immunity*. 36:79–91. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.013.
- Till, B.G., M.C. Jensen, J. Wang, E.Y. Chen, B.L. Wood, H. a Greisman, X. Qian, S.E. James, A. Raubitschek, S.J. Forman, A.K. Gopal, M. John, C.G. Lindgren, P.D. Greenberg, S.R. Riddell, O.W. Press, and J.M. Pagel. 2013. Adoptive immunotherapy for indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma and mantle cell lymphoma using genetically modified autologous CD20-specific T cells. 112:2261–2271. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-128843.

- Topalian, S., F. Hodi, J. Brahmer, S. Gettinger, D. Smith, D. McDermott, J. Powderly, R.
 Carvajal, S. Antonia, L. Horn, C. Drake, D. Pardoll, L. Chen, W. Sharfman, R. Anders, J.
 Taube, T. McMiller, H. Xu, A. Korman, M. Jure-Kunkel, S. Agrawal, D. McDonald, G. Kollia,
 A. Gupta, J. Wigginton, and M. Sznol. 2004. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of antiPD-1 antibody in cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 351:2159–2169. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1208410.
- Topalian, S.L., M. Sznol, D.F. McDermott, H.M. Kluger, R.D. Carvajal, W.H. Sharfman, J.R.
 Brahmer, D.P. Lawrence, M.B. Atkins, J.D. Powderly, P.D. Leming, E.J. Lipson, I. Puzanov,
 D.C. Smith, J.M. Taube, J.M. Wigginton, G.D. Kollia, A. Gupta, D.M. Pardoll, J.A. Sosman,
 and F.S. Hodi. 2014. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients
 with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 32:1020–1030.
 doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.53.0105.
- Topp, M.S., S.R. Riddell, Y. Akatsuka, M.C. Jensen, J.N. Blattman, and P.D. Greenberg. 2003. Restoration of CD28 expression in CD28⁻CD8⁺ memory effector T cells reconstitutes antigen-induced IL-2 production. *J. Exp. Med.* 198:947–955. doi:10.1084/jem.20021288.
- Touloukian, C.E., W.W. Leitner, S.L. Topalian, Y.F. Li, P.F. Robbins, S. A. Rosenberg, and N.P. Restifo. 2000. Identification of a MHC class II-restricted human gp100 epitope using DR4-IE transgenic mice. *J. Immunol.* 164:3535–42. doi:ji_v164n7p3535 [pii].
- Tran, E., P.F. Robbins, Y.-C. Lu, T.D. Prickett, J.J. Gartner, L. Jia, A. Pasetto, Z. Zheng, S. Ray, E.M. Groh, I.R. Kriley, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2016. T-Cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 375:2255–2262. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1609279.
- Tran, E., P.F. Robbins, and S.A. Rosenberg. 2017. "Final common pathway" of human cancer immunotherapy: targeting random somatic mutations. *Nat. Immunol.* 18:255–262. doi:10.1038/ni.3682.
- Truitt, R., and A. Atasoylu. 1991. Contribution of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells to graftversus- host disease and graft-versusleukemia reactivity after transplantation of MHC-compatible bone marrow. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 8:51–58.
- Turtle, C.J., L. Hanafi, C. Berger, T.A. Gooley, S. Cherian, M. Hudecek, D. Sommermeyer, K. Melville, B. Pender, T.M. Budiarto, E. Robinson, N.N. Steevens, C. Chaney, L. Soma, X. Chen, C. Yeung, B. Wood, D. Li, J. Cao, S. Heimfeld, M.C. Jensen, S.R. Riddell, and D.G. Maloney. 2016. CD19 CAR T cells of defined CD4⁺: CD8⁺ composition in adult B cell ALL

patients. J Clin Invest. 126:2123–2138. doi:10.1172/JCI85309DS1.

- Tynan, F.E., S.R. Burrows, A.M. Buckle, C.S. Clements, N. a Borg, J.J. Miles, T. Beddoe, J.C. Whisstock, M.C. Wilce, S.L. Silins, J.M. Burrows, L. Kjer-Nielsen, L. Kostenko, A.W. Purcell, J. McCluskey, and J. Rossjohn. 2005. T cell receptor recognition of a "super-bulged" major histocompatibility complex class I-bound peptide. *Nat Immunol.* 6:1114–1122. doi:10.1038/ni1257.
- Varela-rohena, A., P.E. Molloy, S.M. Dunn, Y. Li, M.M. Suhoski, R.G. Carroll, A. Milicic, T. Mahon, D.H. Sutton, B.E. Laugel, R. Moysey, B.J. Cameron, A. Vuidepot, M.E. Purbhoo, D.K. Cole, R.E. Phillips, C.H. June, B.K. Jakobsen, A.K. Sewell, and L. James. 2008.
 Control of HIV-1 immune escape by CD8 T-cells expressing enhanced T-cell receptor. 14:1390–1395. doi:10.1038/nm.1779.Control.
- Vitiello, a, D. Marchesini, J. Furze, L. a Sherman, and R.W. Chesnut. 1991. Analysis of the HLA-restricted influenza-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response in transgenic mice carrying a chimeric human-mouse class I major histocompatibility complex. *J. Exp. Med.* 173:1007–1015. doi:10.1084/jem.173.4.1007.
- Vrisekoop N, Monteiro JP, Mandl JN, Germain RN, N. Vrisekoop, J.P. Monteiro, J.N. Mandl, and R.N. Germain. 2014. Revisiting thymic positive selection and the mature T cell repertoire for antigen. *Immunity*. 41:181–190. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.07.007.
- Wang, L.X., W.X. Huang, H. Graor, P. a Cohen, J. a Kim, S. Shu, and G.E. Plautz. 2004.
 Adoptive immunotherapy of cancer with polyclonal, 108-fold hyperexpanded, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. *J. Transl. Med.* 2:41. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-2-41.
- Weaver, C., L. Harrington, P. Mangan, M. Gavrieli, and K. Murphy. 2006. Th17: an effector CD4 T cell lineage with regulatory T cell ties. *Immunity*. 24:677–688.
- Weiss, L., M. Weigensberg, S. Morecki, S. Bar, S. Cobbold, H. Waldmann, and S. Slavin. 1990.
 Characterization of effector cells of graft-vs-leukemia following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation in mice inoculated with murine B-cell leukemia. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 31:236–42.
- Wolchok, J.D., H. Kluger, M.K. Callahan, M. a Postow, N. a Rizvi, A.M. Lesokhin, N.H. Segal,C.E. Ariyan, R.-A. Gordon, K. Reed, M.M. Burke, A. Caldwell, S. a Kronenberg, B.U.Agunwamba, X. Zhang, I. Lowy, H.D. Inzunza, W. Feely, C.E. Horak, Q. Hong, A.J.
Korman, J.M. Wigginton, A. Gupta, and M. Sznol. 2013. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 369:122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369.

- Wölfel, T., M. Hauer, J. Schneider, M. Serrano, C. Wölfel, E. Klehmann-Hieb, E. De Plaen, T. Hankeln, K.H. Meyer zum Büschenfelde, and D. Beach. 1995. A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. *Science*. 269:1281–4. doi:10.1126/science.7652577.
- Wooldridge, L., H.A. Van Den Berg, M. Glick, E. Gostick, B. Laugel, S.L. Hutchinson, A. Milicic, J.M. Brenchley, D.C. Douek, D.A. Price, and A.K. Sewell. 2005. Interaction between the CD8 coreceptor and major histocompatibility complex class I stabilizes T cell receptor-antigen complexes at the cell surface. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280:27491–27501. doi:10.1074/jbc.M500555200.
- Wu, L.C., D.S. Tuot, D.S. Lyons, K.C. Garcia, and M.M. Davis. 2002. Two-step binding mechanism for T-cell receptor recognition of peptide–MHC. *Nature*. 418:552–556. doi:10.1038/nature00920.
- Yadav, M., S. Jhunjhunwala, Q.T. Phung, P. Lupardus, J. Tanguay, S. Bumbaca, C. Franci, T.K. Cheung, J. Fritsche, T. Weinschenk, Z. Modrusan, I. Mellman, J.R. Lill, and L. Delamarre. 2014. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. 515:572–576. doi:10.1038/nature14001.
- Yamaguchi, H., F. Tanaka, M. Ohta, H. Inoue, and M. Mori. 2004. Identification of HLA-A24restricted CTL epitope from cancer-testis antigen, NY-ESO-1, and induction of a specific antitumor immune response. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10:890–896. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-1086-3.
- Yassai, M., K. Ammon, J. Goverman, P. Marrack, Y. Naumov, and J. Gorski. 2002. A molecular marker for thymocyte-positive selection: selection of CD4 single-positive thymocytes with shorter TCRB CDR3 during T cell development. *J. Immunol.* 168:3801–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.8.3801.
- Yee, C., J.A. Thompson, D. Byrd, S.R. Riddell, P. Roche, E. Celis, and P.D. Greenberg. 2002. Adoptive T cell therapy using antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell clones for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: in vivo persistence, migration, and antitumor effect of transferred T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 99:16168–73.

doi:10.1073/pnas.242600099.

- Yee, C., J.A. Thompson, P. Roche, D.R. Byrd, P.P. Lee, M. Piepkorn, K. Kenyon, M.M. Davis, S.R. Riddell, and P.D. Greenberg. 2000. Brief definitive report melanocyte destruction after antigen-specific immunotherapy of melanoma: direct evidence of T cell–mediated vitiligo. *J. Exp. Med.* 120700:1637–1643. doi:10.1084/jem.192.11.1637.
- Zarour, H.M., W.J. Storkus, V. Brusic, M.C.D.T. Cells, E. Williams, and J.M. Kirkwood. 2000. NY-ESO-1 encodes DRB1*0401-restricted epitopes recognized by melanoma-reactive CD4⁺ T cells. *Cancer Res.* 60:4946–4952.
- Zeng, G., C.E. Touloukian, X. Wang, N.P. Restifo, S.A. Rosenberg, and R.-F. Wang. 2000. Identification of CD4⁺ T cell epitopes from NY-ESO-1 presented by HLA-DR molecules. *J. Immunol.* 165:1153–1159. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.2.1153.
- Zerrahn, J., W. Held, and D.H. Raulet. 1997. The MHC reactivity of the T cell repertoire prior to positive and negative selection. *Cell*. 88:627–636. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81905-4.
- Zhang, B., T. Karrison, D.A. Rowley, and H. Schreiber. 2008a. IFN-γ- and TNF-dependent bystander eradication of antigen-loss variants in established mouse cancers. *J. Clin. Invest.* 118:1398–1404. doi:10.1172/JCI33522.
- Zhang, B., Y. Zhang, N.A. Bowerman, A. Schietinger, Y.X. Fu, D.M. Kranz, D.A. Rowley, and H. Schreiber. 2008b. Equilibrium between host and cancer caused by effector T cells killing tumor stroma. *Cancer Res.* 68:1563–1571. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5324.
- Zhang, Y., G. Joe, E. Hexner, J. Zhu, and S.G. Emerson. 2005. Host-reactive CD8⁺ memory stem cells in graft-versus-host disease. *Nat. Med.* 11:1299–1305.
- Zhu, J., and W.E. Paul. 2009. CD4 T cells : fates , functions , and faults ASH 50th anniversary review CD4 T cells : fates , functions , and faults. *Immunobiology*. 112:1557–1569. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-05-078154.
- Zinkernagel, R.M., G.N. Callahan, J. Klein, and G. Dennert. 1978. Cytotoxic T cells learn speccificity for self H-2 during differentiation in the thymus. *Nature*. 271:251–253.

Contribution to the publications

- Li, L., et al., 2010, *Nat. Med.*: Figures 2d, 3d and 4, Supplementary Figure 10 and Supplementary Table 1. Designed, performed the experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data.
- 2. Chen, X., et al., 2017, *J. Exp. Med.*: Figure 1-8, Table 1, supplementary Figure 1-5. Developed the concept, performed experiments, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript.
- 3. Linnemann, C., et al., 2013, *Nat. Med.*: Figure 3a. Designed, performed, analyzed and interpreted experiments in AB*ab*DII mice.
- 4. Obenaus, M., et al., 2015, *Nat. Biotechnol.*: Figure 4. Planned and performed experiments, and analyzed data.

Publications and patent

Publications

- Chen, X., L. Poncette, and T. Blankenstein. 2017. Human TCR-MHC coevolution after divergence from mice includes increased nontemplate-encoded CDR3 diversity. J. Exp. Med. 214:3417–3433. doi:10.1084/jem.20161784.
- Li, L., J.C. Lampert, **X. Chen**, C. Leitao, J. Popović, W. Müller, and T. Blankenstein. 2010. Transgenic mice with a diverse human T cell antigen receptor repertoire. *Nat. Med.* 16:1029–34. doi:10.1038/nm.2197.
- Linnemann, C., B. Heemskerk, P. Kvistborg, R.J.C. Kluin, D.A. Bolotin, X. Chen, K. Bresser, M. Nieuwland, R. Schotte, S. Michels, R. Gomez-Eerland, L. Jahn, P. Hombrink, N. Legrand, C.J. Shu, I.Z. Mamedov, A. Velds, C.U. Blank, J.B.A.G. Haanen, M.A. Turchaninova, R.M. Kerkhoven, H. Spits, S.R. Hadrup, M.H.M. Heemskerk, T. Blankenstein, D.M. Chudakov, G.M. Bendle, and T.N.M. Schumacher. 2013. High-throughput identification of antigen-specific TCRs by TCR gene capture. *Nat. Med.* 19:1534–1541. doi:10.1038/nm.3359.
- Obenaus, M., C. Leitão, M. Leisegang, X. Chen, I. Gavvovidis, P. van der Bruggen, W. Uckert,
 D.J. Schendel, and T. Blankenstein. 2015. Identification of human T-cell receptors with
 optimal affinity to cancer antigens using antigen-negative humanized mice. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 33:402–7. doi:10.1038/nbt.3147.

Patent

EP 16 712 262.1, title "Combined T cell receptor gene therapy of cancer against MHC I and MHC II-restricted epitopes of the tumor antigen NY-ESO-1".

STATEMENT (EIDESSTATTLICHE ERKLÄRUNG)

Hiermit bestätige ich, dass ich die Arbeit selbständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

Außerdem versichere ich, dass die Arbeit noch nicht veröffentlicht oder in einem anderen Prüfungsverfahren als Prüfungsleistung vorgelegt worden ist.

Berlin, den 17.11.2017

Xiaojing Chen

Copyright license number

 Introduction Figure 1:
 4237740875940

 Introduction Figure 2:
 4237741144621